Polymeric Drug Delivery Systems by Additive Manufacturing

Sedigheh Borandeh, Bas van Bochove, Arun Teotia, Jukka Seppälä

PII:	S0169-409X(21)00101-0
DOI:	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2021.03.022
Reference:	ADR 13763
To appear in:	Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews
Received Date:	21 October 2020
Revised Date:	20 January 2021
Accepted Date:	31 March 2021



Please cite this article as: S. Borandeh, B. van Bochove, A. Teotia, J. Seppälä, Polymeric Drug Delivery Systems by Additive Manufacturing, *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* (2021), doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr. 2021.03.022

This is a PDF file of an article that has undergone enhancements after acceptance, such as the addition of a cover page and metadata, and formatting for readability, but it is not yet the definitive version of record. This version will undergo additional copyediting, typesetting and review before it is published in its final form, but we are providing this version to give early visibility of the article. Please note that, during the production process, errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

© 2021 Published by Elsevier B.V.

# Polymeric Drug Delivery Systems by Additive Manufacturing

Sedigheh Borandeh<sup>†</sup>, Bas van Bochove<sup>†</sup>, Arun Teotia<sup>†</sup>, Jukka Seppälä<sup>\*</sup>

† Contributed equally

Polymer Technology, School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, Espoo 02150, Finland

\*Corresponding Author: Prof. Jukka Seppälä Polymer Technology School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, Espoo 02150 Email: jukka.seppälä@aalto.fi

## Abstract

Additive manufacturing (AM) is gaining interests in drug delivery applications, offering innovative opportunities for the design and development of systems with complex geometry and programmed controlled release profile. In addition, polymer-based drug delivery systems can improve drug safety and efficacy and patient compliance and are the key materials in AM. Therefore, combining AM and polymers can be beneficial to overcome the existing limitations in the development of controlled release drug delivery systems. Considering these advantages, here we are focusing on the recent developments in the field of polymeric drug delivery systems prepared by AM. This review provides a comprehensive overview on a holistic polymer–AM perspective for drug delivery systems with discussion on the materials, properties, design and fabrication techniques and the mechanisms used to achieve a controlled release system. The current challenges and future perspectives for personalized medicine and clinical use of these systems are also briefly discussed.

#### Keywords

Additive Manufacturing, 3D-Printing, drug delivery, polymers, controlled release, personalized medicine.

## **Table of Contents**

Ab	ostract	2
Ke	ywords	2
Ab	breviations	4
1.	Introduction	5
2.	Polymeric Drug Delivery Systems	6
2	2.1 Design of a polymeric modified release system	6
	2.1.1 The matrix and geometric design	7
2	2.2 Mechanisms of controlled release from polymeric matrices	8
	2.2.1 Diffusion	9
	2.2.2 Swelling	10
	2.2.3 Erosion	11
	2.2.4 Osmosis	11
	2.2.5 Polymer-drug conjugates	12
3.	Additive Manufacturing	14
ź	3.1 Extrusion-based Additive Manufacturing	15
	3.1.1 Fused Deposition Modeling (FDM)	15
	3.1.2 Direct Powder Extrusion (DPE)	18
	3.1.3 Pressure Assisted Microsyringe (PAM)	18
	3.1.4 3D Inkjet Printing	19
ź	3.2 Light-based Additive Manufacturing	21
	3.2.1 Vat Photopolymerization	21
	3.2.2 Selective Laser Sintering (SLS)	24
4.	Polymers and Polymer Properties in Drug Delivery Systems Prepared by Ad	ditive
Ma	anufacturing	25
4	4.1 Essential polymer properties for drug delivery systems prepared by AM	26
	4.1.1 Biodegradable and non-degradable polymers	26
	4.1.2 Biocompatibility and non-toxicity	27
	4.1.3 Mechanical properties	28
	4.1.4 Rheology and printability	29
4	4.2 Polymers in AM technologies for drug delivery	29
	4.2.1 Poly (ε-caprolactone) (PCL)	30
	4.2.2 Poly(lactide) (PLA)	32
	4.2.3 Poly (lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA)	34
	4.2.4 Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)	

	$\mathbf{n}$	11rno	Jrc	) 1 <sup>r</sup>	127		FO
U						WA.	

	4.2.5 Ethyl cellulose (EC)	37	
	4.2.6 Hydroxypropyl Cellulose (HPC)	39	
	4.2.7 Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose (HPMC)	40	
	4.2.8 Polyvinyl Pyrrolidone (PVP)	41	
	4.2.9 Polyethylene glycol Diacrylate (PEGDA)	42	
	4.2.10 Ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA)	43	
	4.2.11 Polyurethane (PU)	44	
	4.2.12 Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS)	44	
5.	Conclusions and Future Perspectives	47	
Acknowledgements		49	
Refe	References		

## Abbreviations

5-fluorouracil, (5-FU); Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients, (APIs); Acetylsalicylic acid, (ASS); Additive manufacturing, (AM); American Society for Testing and Materials, (ASTM); Carbamazepine, (CBZ); Continuous liquid interface production, (CLIP); Computer-aided design, (CAD); Continuous Inkjet, (CIJ); Computer tomography, (CT); Direct powder extrusion, (DPE); Diode laser curing, (DLC); Digital light processing, (DLP); Drop-ondemand, (DoD); Ethyl cellulose, (EC); Ethylene vinyl acetate, (EVA); First in human, (FIH); Food and drug administration, (FDA); Fused deposition modeling, (FDM); Fused filament fabrication (FFF); Gastrointestinal tract, (GIT); Hot melt extrusion, (HME); Hydroxypropyl cellulose, (HPC); Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose, (HPMC); International Organization for Standardization, (ISO); Intrauterine system, (IUS); Levetiracetam, (LEV); Magnetic resonance imaging, (MRI); Microneedles, (MNs); Multi-head deposition system, (MHDS); Multi jet N-(2-hydroxypropyl)methacrylamide, fusion, (MJF); (HPMAM); Poly((2diethylamino)ethylmethacrylate), (PDEA); Polyacrylic acid, (PAA); Polycaprolactone, (PCL); Poly(D-lactic acid), (PDLA); Poly(D,L-lactic acid), (PDLLA); Polydimethylsiloxane, (PDMS); Poly(ethylene glycol), (PEG); Polyethylene glycol diacrylate, (PEGDA); Poly(lactic acid), (PLA); Poly(L-lactic acid), (PLLA); Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid), (PLGA); Poly(Nisopropylacryalamide, (pNIPAM); Polyurethane, (PU); Polyvinyl pyrrolidone, (PVP); Powder bed fusion, (PBF); Pressure assisted microsyringe, (PAM); Selective laser sintering, (SLS); Stereolithography, (SLA); Semi-solid extrusion, (SSE); Surface area/volume, (SA/V); Tribasic phosphate sodium, (TBP); Two-photon polymerization, (2PP), vinyl acetate (VA).

## 1. Introduction

A drug delivery system can be defined as a method or process using the principles of chemistry, engineering and biology for administering of pharmaceutical compounds with high therapeutic effects. Currently, there are high demands for designing modified release drug delivery systems for reducing frequency of dosing and increasing the efficiency of the drug at the required site to minimize its side effects [1,2]. Until now, considerable advances have been made in the development of different sustained and controlled drug delivery systems based on polymers [3,4]. Advancement of drug delivery systems have been significantly achieved by using polymers, enabling both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs to be delivered over an extended period of time to the site of action [5]. Improved drug safety and efficacy and patient compliance can be obtained using polymer-based drug delivery systems. These systems are designed to keep the therapeutic levels of the drug, reduce the side-effects and drug dosage, and to facilitate the delivery of drugs with short *in vivo* half-lives [6].

Several methods have already been used for providing sustained or controlled release polymeric drug delivery systems, such as polymer encapsulation and polymer bound drug systems [4,7]. However, there is still a need towards developing more controlled and even tailored release profiles. Layer-by-layer additive manufacturing (AM) techniques enable rapid production of novel personalized drug delivery systems, where conventional manufacturing is impractical due to cost and design limitations. AM is one of the emerging megatrends that has progressed remarkably in the last few years. With the ability of mass customization, on demand supply, individualized dosing, and flexibility with drug combinations, AM offers great potential for the pharmaceutical sector. Through AM, various drug delivery systems can be fabricated with several predesigned sizes, shapes, material and drug combinations [8–10].

Various AM methods, such as binder jetting, fused deposition modeling (FDM), selective laser sintering (SLS), and stereolithography (SLA) enable the production of high resolution and complicated drug delivery systems with custom-designed geometries, which were not easy to obtain with conventional techniques [11,12]. In addition, multi-component AM under mild conditions has become possible. Approval of first binder jetting AM printed oral tablet formulation (Spritam® by Aprecia) for anti-epileptic drug levetiracetam by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for commercial markets, represented introduction of AM technologies in the pharmaceutical sector [13].

AM can enable customization, enhancing system flexibility and adaptability right from the early product development phase to the 'first in human (FIH)' stages [14], enhancing product

optimization, decreasing lead times and related costs. Traditional formulation processes are labor intensive, slow and rigid for development of investigational dosage forms. In contrast, AM enables rapid product development and optimization, allowing high flexibility in developing early phase experimental dosage forms to analyze solubility, stability, bioavailability, drug combinations, dose flexibility, and release kinetics of drugs [15,16]. In addition, AM allows for the preparation of drug delivery systems with shapes, sizes, colors and flavors which are optimized to the preference of patients, potentially increasing patient compliance [17–19].

Recently, researchers have explored AM to achieve release of multiple drugs from a single tablet (multilets), and to obtain a programmed drug release profile, by combining FDM and injection molding [20], directly printing specific architectures [21,22]. Depending on the drug properties, physiological, and environmental factors, these architectures can be readily customized to achieve a required release profile. The release of pharmaceutical agents must be based on the understanding of the underlying release mechanisms and their specific phenomena.

This review provides a comprehensive overview of the topic discussing the chemical, physical and fabrication aspects and their importance for AM pharmaceutical delivery systems. After the initial introduction on the basic requirements of polymeric drug delivery systems and the mechanisms to achieve controlled release of the drugs, the design aspects of the AM approaches are highlighted. Next, the most extensively and recently used AM techniques for development of polymeric drug delivery devices are presented by discussing the materials, design and fabrication techniques and some prominent case studies regarding different delivery systems. Furthermore, the challenges faced by AM drug delivery systems and the future perspectives on the possibilities for more advanced polymer-based drug delivery systems utilizing AM techniques and the technological developments required to provide more patient friendly, safe, efficient, and personalized therapies in clinics are discussed.

## 2. Polymeric Drug Delivery Systems

## 2.1 Design of a polymeric modified release system

In a polymer based drug delivery system, a polymer is used to achieve a predicted controlled (zero order) or sustained (first order) drug release from the system [23], maintaining persistent therapeutic levels of drug systemically minimizing the dosing frequency. These systems can be categorized into: (i) matrix, (ii) reservoir, and (iii) conjugated systems.

Matrix based systems are most simple to generate, making them one of the largest explored systems in AM based drug release systems. In a matrix system, the drug can be either in a dissolved or in a dispersed (amorphous/crystalline) phase, depending on the polymer-drug solubility and concentration of the drug. In addition to drug-polymer interactions, and drug concentration, drug release from a matrix-based system, can be governed by the geometric design of the system. The multiplexity and flexibility of AM can provide more precise control over the release profile from a delivery system [24–26].

The reservoir-based systems differ from matrix-based systems in their basic design, containing drug as a solid core enclosed by a polymeric membrane. The drug diffusion rate across the membrane governs the release profile. Unlike the matrix-based systems, as the dimension of these systems doesn't change significantly with time, they provide almost zero-order constant release. However, concern of membrane rupture induced dose dumping, and post-usage system retrieval limits their usability.

Covalently conjugating the drugs with the polymers is another approach employed to control the release profile and prolong the residence time of a drug in the body. Poly(ethylene glycol)-drug conjugates increase the overall circulation time, reducing both dose and the frequency of administration [27,28]. The conjugation/sequestration of drugs with self-assembling polymeric nanoparticles (e.g. cyclodextrins, block copolymers) [29] leads to drug loaded micellar and nanoparticles. A diffusion or degradation-based mechanism can provide controlled release of the entrapped drug from these systems. Additionally, the linker chemistry (e.g. "S-S" disulfide) of active agents conjugated to polymeric nanocarriers enables predefined loading and release kinetics from nanoparticle-drug conjugates. By employing a stimuli responsive (smart) polymer (poly(*N*-isopropylacryalamide (pNIPAM), poly((2-diethylamino)ethylmethacrylate) (PDEA)) an intelligent controlled release system can be generated [30,31].

## 2.1.1 The matrix and geometric design

In addition to the nature of the drug and the polymer matrix properties, 3D geometric design of the release system plays an important role in governing the release of a drug from a system. These dimensional parameters of a system also play a deciding role in the route and site of delivery. Several mathematical models, such as Higuchi [32], Korsmeyer [33], Peppas [34], and Korsmeyer-Peppas (Power-law) [33] models, are available to predict drug release from polymeric systems. These models can be easily extrapolated to predict drug release from complex 3D architectures. With AM more complicated geometries with better control over the pore size, pore architecture, and wall thickness, exposed surface area, pore interconnectivity,

the diffusion/erosion rates can be generated. This enables better control over the release profile. Using AM, structures with predefined and programmed drug release at a defined rate over a specified timeframe can be developed. Sun et al. demonstrated that drugs can be released in an increasing, decreasing or pulsatile pattern, using specifically designed drug loaded 3D polymeric architectures [18]. In another preliminary study, Goyanes et al. [8] observed that the release kinetics were independent of the exposed surface area of the structure (cube, pyramid, cylinder, sphere and torus), but dependent on the surface area to volume ratio from FDM printed eroding matrices. More complex 3D printed geometries were evaluated to achieve a programmed drug release in an increasing, decreasing or pulsatile manner [21,22]. In another study, Kadry et al. [35] investigated the effect of the geometry on drug release profiles from of FDM printed hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC) tablets. By varying the geometric parameters, patterns and infill densities of a drug containing core, they achieved an increasing/decreasing and pulsatile- release profiles from the tablets. It was observed that an increase in either porosity (low infill density), or an increased surface area, enhanced the release rates. Infill architecture also influenced the release kinetics. Additionally, printing a core with alternating drug containing and drug free polymer layers in a radial diametric fashion lead to tablets with pre-programmed release profiles [35]. Using AM and smart design, patient specific desired drug release profiles can be achieved as a personalized approach.

Moreover, the size of drug carriers influences *in vivo* performance, often determining the mode of drug administration, which depends on the site of use. In addition, from the AM process point of view, the size of printed structures is important and can affect the process of printing and drug release rate. AM techniques provide dimensional flexibility, the size of AM drug delivery systems can be easily manipulated to achieve the intended action. Awad et al. [36], prepared dual miniprintlets in two different sizes by SLS: 1 mm and 2 mm. The time needed to print one batch of 100 dual miniprintlets with the size of 1 mm was lower than that of dual miniprintlets with the size of 2 mm and the 1 mm miniprintlets displayed a higher precision in weight when compared to the 2 mm miniprintlets. In addition, by increasing the diameter of the miniprintlets the drug release rate was decreased. This confirms that the size of drug delivery systems can also influence the release profile [37].

## 2.2 Mechanisms of controlled release from polymeric matrices

Drug release strategies are designed depending on chemical, physical, biological, and engineering aspects, controlling the spatiotemporal release. Considering the physical and

chemical properties of both the drug and the matrix, the major mechanism used are diffusion, erosion, swelling, and osmosis. Fig. 1 displays few of these processes.



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of drug release mechanisms involved in different release systems.

## 2.2.1 Diffusion

Diffusion is a concentration gradient driven mass transfer process. In a diffusion controlled release system, post-solubilization the diffusion kinetics of a drug molecule is the rate limiting step [38,39]. In a diffusion mediated controlled release system, the drug can either be dispersed or dissolved in the polymeric matrix itself forming a monolith system (Fig. 2a). Or a drug containing core is enclosed by a polymeric membrane, generating a reservoir (Fig. 2b) system. In a monolithic system, if the drug is already dissolved in the matrix, it can lead to initial burst release from the surface. Additionally, as the mean diffusion distance before release increases with time in monolithic systems, the device geometry plays important role in drug release. On other hand, in a reservoir system, diffusion across polymeric membrane enclosing drug saturated core governs release rate. Drugs can be present either in a dispersed or dissolved phase within the reservoir. A constant concentration gradient is maintained in the membrane

until the reservoir gets depleted, maintaining zero order release kinetics [40]. However, these devices pose a great risk; if the membrane gets damaged it will lead to a highly undesired dose dumping situation.

Polymer-drug permeability plays important role in both monolithic (Fig. 2a) reservoir type controlled drug release systems (Fig. 2b) [40]. Factors such as change in temperature, composition of matrix (i.e. by additives), size of the molecule, and the presence of water molecules affect diffusivity [41,42].



Fig. 2. Monolithic and reservoir release systems. (a) Schematic representing development of concentration profile with time in a monolithic system. M = drug containing matrix;  $C_P = drug$  solubility in matrix;  $C_T = total$  loaded drug concentration; Z = zone of depletion containing dissolved drug;  $L_B =$  boundary layer. (b) Schematic representing development of concentration profile with time in a membrane enclosed reservoir device. R = drug containing reservoir matrix;  $C_R = drug$  solubility in reservoir matrix;  $C_T = total$  loaded drug concentration; M = diffusion membrane;  $L_B = boundary$  layer. (adapted from [40])

## 2.2.2 Swelling

Swelling as a drug release mechanism can be used both in polymer matrices and crosslinked polymer networks [43]. Drug are dissolved or dispersed in a matrix where it has limited diffusivity. When the polymeric matrix is surrounded with a suitable solvent, the solvent penetration into the polymeric network induces change in the matrix volume [44,45]. Forces such as entropy changes, hydrophilic/hydrophobic interactions, electrostatic/ionic interactions,

and osmotic stress influence solvent diffusion into the polymer network, leading to solvation and polymer chain disentanglement and polymer swelling. In a crystalline polymeric network, this leads to a transition of the network from glassy state to an expanded rubbery state referred to as gel. The expansion in polymer volume generates gaps between polymer chains consequently increasing the mass flow of the solvent, and drug diffusivity. The release rate from these systems depends on surface area and degree of swelling. If the solvation leads to a complete dissolution of the matrix, these are called swellable-soluble matrices [46,47]. Using a combination of glassy polymers, additives and incorporation of crosslinks, dynamic swelling and drug release from a system can be appropriately modulated.

#### 2.2.3 Erosion

An eroding polymer matrix is preferred for implantable controlled release system [48]. As the matrix get eliminated by erosion, there is no need of retrieval post implantation. However, issues such as resorbability and toxicity of the degrading products also become important. Another advantage provided by eroding matrices is their ability to deliver large biomacromolecules in the form of an implantable system [49] [50]. A drug molecule embedded in an eroding matrix only gets released upon hydrolytic degradation of the matrix. The degradation of a polymer matrix depends on both the rate of water penetration into the matrix and the rate of hydrolytic cleavage [51]. If water cannot readily penetrate into the matrix (e.g. polyanhydrides), a surface erosion behavior is observed [43] [52]. Whereas if water penetrates more rapidly than the degradation rate of the matrix it induces bulk erosion and collapse of network [53]. For certain polymers, for instance poly(lactic acid) (PLGA), the acidic degradation products themselves catalyze hydrolysis, leading to an autocatalytic degradation.

Controlled release kinetics from an erosion-based system can be achieved using suitable geometric design. A slab-based design surface eroding matrix demonstrated approximately zero order release. In contrast, a cylindrical or spherical construct demonstrated a decrease in release due to reduction in surface area. Bulk eroding matrices demonstrate rapid release of drugs in later phases due to bulk disintegration. PLGA based eroding matrices have been developing for controlled release of macromolecules from 3D printed implants [54].

## 2.2.4 Osmosis

Osmosis mediated controlled release systems are also used for drug delivery applications. Several different prototypes for osmotic pumps based system are developed [55].



Fig. 3. Schematic representing a simple osmotic pump system [55].

However, basically in all osmotic pump based controlled release system, a drug and an osmogen are compacted to form core compartment, which his enveloped by a semi-permeable membrane (Fig. 3). The membrane selectively allows only inward flow of the solvent under osmotic gradient. This inward flow of the solvent leads to dissolution of the drug molecules which gets released out of the system under the hydrostatic pressure at a constant rate through an orifice present in the system. However, these systems are highly complicated to fabricate, where membrane rupture can lead to dose dumping and are mostly manufactured using conventional approaches. Recently an AM prototype for osmosis mediated delivery of diltiazem was reported [56].

## 2.2.5 Polymer-drug conjugates

A polymer-drug conjugate can contain one or more drugs covalently conjugated to a polymer chain. Drug PEGylation is widely known, where a drug is conjugated with PEG to prolong the residence time of the drug in the body [57]. This has enabled reduction in dose as well as the frequency of administration [27]. Polymer conjugation also provides protection from enzymatic degradation to the sensitive drugs [57]. In addition to PEG, dextran, N-(2-hydroxypropyl)methacrylamide (HPMAM)-, poly(glutamic acid)-, and polysarcosine- are also employed to deliver highly potent cytotoxic molecules [27,28].



Fig. 4. Schematic representing different polymer-drug conjugate systems. a. polymer-protein conjugate; b. polymer-small-molecule conjugate; c. hyperbranched dendrimer-drug conjugate system; and d. Polymeric nanoparticles are colloidal carriers. The depicted polymeric micelle, polymeric nanoparticles typically possess a core–shell architecture, with a hydrophobic core sequestered by a hydrophilic corona [27].

Drugs can be conjugated to linear, branched or hyper branched (dendrimers) polymer structures (Fig. 4). Depending on the type of crosslinker between drug and polymer a pH, enzymatic or reduction sensitive target site specific drug release can be achieved. However, the conjugation/sequestration of drugs with polymers self-assembling in micellar or nanoparticle architectures (e.g. cyclodextrins, block copolymers) provides specific advantages for controlled delivery [27,29,58]. These enable intracellular drug delivery, overcoming various biological barriers. The drug conjugation to polymeric nanocarriers enables a predefined and high drug loading into self-assembled 3D architectures. Additionally, the release of entrapped/sequestered drug via diffusion or degradation of the polymeric nanoparticle provides a more precise controlled release than achieved from a physically entrapping system [59].

## 3. Additive Manufacturing

AM is defined as a 'process of joining materials to make parts from 3D model data, usually layer upon layer, as opposed to subtractive manufacturing and formative manufacturing methodologies' by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) standard (ISO/ASTM 52900:2016) [60]. In AM, 3D computer models are designed directly via computer-aided design (CAD) or mathematical software [61]. Furthermore, for medical related AM 3D models can be based on medical imaging techniques such as computer tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The 3D model is then converted into an stl-file and expressed as a series of cross-sectional slices with a predetermined thickness. These slices are then sent to the AM device to fabricate the final products which closely resemble the original model in geometry and size. This allows for the fabrication of patient specific [62] and 'on-demand' [63] complex structures, which provides promising prospects for improvements in biomedical strategies, including drug delivery.

In this section, we discuss the AM techniques that have been used recently in scientific research for drug delivery devices. We discuss how the techniques work, what requirements the techniques put on the polymers, how the drugs can be incorporated, and the potential of the techniques for the preparation of drug delivery devices. In our literature research, it was clear that the printing techniques could generally be divided into light-based and extrusion-based AM. FDM, also known as fused filament fabrication (FFF), was by far the technique mostly used for the AM of drug delivery devices. Another common technique was vat photopolymerization. Other techniques such as inkjet printing and SLS were sporadically investigated as well. Fig. 5 gives a schematic overview of the AM techniques used in the AM of drug delivery devices. In the scheme, and this section, we have divided the methods based upon layer formation/deposition methods, this however does not exclude for example material curing being used in extrusion-based AM.



Fig. 5. Schematic showing the AM techniques used in recent studies for the preparation of AM drug delivery devices.

## 3.1 Extrusion-based Additive Manufacturing

In this section we discuss AM methods that are based on the selective deposition of materials onto a substrate: fused deposition modeling, direct powder extrusion, pressure assisted microsyringe and 3D inkjet printing.

## 3.1.1 Fused Deposition Modeling (FDM)

Fused deposition modeling is an AM technique from the material extrusion category: a 'material is selectively dispensed through a nozzle or orifice' [60]. In FDM, a thermoplastic polymeric filament is melt-extruded through a heated nozzle forming a 2D pattern on a building platform by XY-movements of the nozzle [64]. By adjusting the height of the platform or nozzle in the Z direction, subsequent deposition of the next layer can be facilitated. Originally, two materials were utilized, with one of the materials functioning as a support material. More recent developments allow for the use of multiple materials as actual construct materials [65]. In Fig. 6, a schematic representation of an FDM setup is shown.



Fig. 6. Schematic overview of Extrusion-based additive manufacturing techniques: fused deposition modeling, the three methods of pressure assisted microsyringe and CIJ 3D inkjet printing.

The processing parameters will determine the resolution, porosity, mechanical properties of the obtained constructs. The parameters include nozzle temperature and diameter, movement speed of the nozzle, extrusion speed and build direction [66,67]. FDM is an interesting technique for the preparation of AM constructs as it doesn't necessarily require treatment of the constructs post fabrication such as solvent extraction or impregnation [64].

A critical aspect of FDM is material decomposition during processing [64]. Upon prolonged exposure to heat, polymers tend to thermally decompose. Polymer melts are often highly viscous and require application of considerable pressure to feed them through the nozzle. To reduce viscosity, the temperatures are often increased. The effect of the thermal decomposition of the polymers on the properties of the obtained structures needs to be considered prior to fabrication.

The standard process for producing a drug releasing device by FDM requires the preparation of a filament consisting of a thermoplastic polymer loaded with drug(s) [68]. The drug loaded filament is then used in the FDM device to produce a drug releasing construct. The production of the drug loaded filaments is divided in two general steps: (i) the mixing of the polymer(s) and the drugs(s) and (ii) the subsequent production of the filaments. For step one, an additional pre-step may be required if the form of the polymer is not compatible with the form of the drugs, i.e. polymers are often supplied as pellets while drugs come as powders. A large difference in size of the polymers and drugs is one of the main reasons of inhomogeneous drug distribution in the produced filament [69]. Processes such as melt-blending, physical mixing

and homogenizing in the extruder prior to extrusion may therefore require milling and sieving of the polymer(s) as a pre-step. Mixing techniques such as solvent casting do not require this pre-step due to the polymer(s) and drug(s) being dissolved in an organic solvent. In these cases, a stirring step is performed allowing the homogenization of the mixture. The polymer/drug solution is then casted, and the solvent evaporated [70,71].

There are several approaches to produce drug loaded filaments: (i) filament soaking, in which the filament is soaked for a sufficient time period in an appropriate solvent containing the drugs so that the drugs can diffuse into the filament [72,73]; (ii) hot melt extrusion (HME). Single screw extrusion, in which the polymer/drug mixture is fed into an extruder with a single screw. The polymer melts due to shear stress and temperature and finally flows out of the nozzle [68]. Double screw extrusion, which can be co-rotating and counter-rotating. Mixing in this system is generally better as compared to single crew extrusion and has lower shear stresses which is beneficial for sensitive drugs [68]; (iii) melt blending [74] and (iv) piston extrusion [75,76].

In order to develop a well-functioning drug delivery system, it is important to consider loading efficiency, homogeneity of the drug dispersion in the polymer matrix and efficacy of the drugs after processing. High temperatures, shear stresses and pressures in extrusion systems, and potentially harmful solvents in filament soaking and solvent casting, may harm the efficacy of the drugs and residual solvents may affect the safety of the drug delivery device. The lowest loading can generally be achieved by the solvent soaking approach with amounts to 5% w/w. The efficiency is affected by the amount of solvent and swelling of the filament [77]. Higher amounts are achieved by both the single and double screw extrusion with drug loading up to 60% w/w with loading efficiencies ranging between 70 and 100% as some of the drug may stay stuck on the extruder wall [68,78]. Single screw extrusion results in lower homogeneity as compared to double screw extrusion, as the polymer-drug mixture is mixed more efficiently in the double screw extruder [79]. In the case of piston extrusion, the homogeneity and loading efficiency is limited by pre-mixing.

Compared to conventional techniques used in the preparation of drug delivery devices, FDM poses several advantages. FDM allows for the preparation of individualized, designed dosage forms [80], making it an important technique in the development of truly personalized medicine [81]. This for example achieved by the inclusion of multiple drugs, for example by multilayer printing [80,82], which allows for treatment of patients that have multiple and very complex drug regimens [83]. In addition, with FDM there is great geometric freedom [84] which allows for the preparation of complex structures including compartmentalized capsular devices [83–85]. Such devices can either be manufactured as empty compartments to be filled with the drug

later, or as outer shell and inner core in a single process [84] and allow for combinations of drugs, doses and release kinetics [86].

Drug delivery devices prepared by FDM are investigated mainly for oral devices such as tablets [80,82,83,87], capsules [84,86] and innovative radiator designs [81]. Several types of release have been investigated with these devices. Controlled release was reported for drug loaded tablets [8,69,88]. Tablets with extended release were also developed [89]. Melocchi et al. developed capsular devices with the aim of pulsatile release [86,90]. Immediate release was reported from tablets without disintegrant [91] and bi-layered tablets [80]. Multi-layered tablets were prepared with release depending on the position in the tablet [82], and this allows to co-ordinate the drug release and achieve optimized release profiles. Control over drug release was also achieved by preparing capsular devices where the difference in release was achieved by adjusting the design [83]. Devices with both early and delayed release, and devices with both immediate and extended release were prepared in this way.

## 3.1.2 Direct Powder Extrusion (DPE)

Due to the aforementioned disadvantages of HME, it would be an advantage to be able to skip that step [92]. Recent developments in AM have introduced an alternative for FDM printing: Direct Powder Extrusion (DPE) [93]. In this technique, pellets or powders are directly printed via extrusion through a nozzle by a single screw extruder. As HME is not required to prepare filaments, disadvantages of the use of filaments such as limitations in the amount of excipient inclusion to obtain printable filaments can be circumvented [94]. In addition, polymers that would otherwise make too brittle or soft filaments can potentially be used in DPE [92].

In a first demonstration of the use of the technique for drug delivery devices, Goyanes et al. showed that it was possible to prepare amorphous solid dispersions of drug in polymer [92]. The obtained manufactured tablets showed good mechanical properties and no drug degradation in the process. A sustained drug release was observed with observed. Ong et al. prepared tablets that showed alcohol resistance and abuse-deterrent properties for dose personalization of opioids [95]. Fanous et al. demonstrated the capability of DPE to prepared honeycomb devises with different infill densities for immediate release dosage forms [94].

## 3.1.3 Pressure Assisted Microsyringe (PAM)

Like FDM, pressure assisted microsyringe (PAM, also known as semi-solid extrusion, SSE) relies on the computer-controlled preparation of a 3D structure with designed composition and architecture via the deposition of the materials in a layer-by-layer manner [96]. While having

been used extensively in tissue engineering approaches for the preparation of soft tissue implants [97], the use of PAM for drug delivery devices has been relatively recent [96]. The extrusion process is based on pressure: either pneumatic, mechanical of via a solenoid piston [98]. In Fig. 6, a schematic representation of the PAM setups is shown.

The polymer drug mixture is processed as a semi solid: a gel or paste. Semi solids contain an ideal mixture of polymer, solvent and other components (i.e. drugs). The advantage of PAM is that high temperatures are not required [99]. Additionally, high drug loading is achieved with the drug being mixed in the solvent that is used to make the paste, and PAM can be used for multi-drug tablet printing. Furthermore, even poorly soluble drugs can be mixed and incorporated [100]. However, drying as post-print processing is necessary, which may result in shrinking or deformation of the built structure. In addition, due to the use of solvents, drug instability and toxicity may occur. Furthermore, the rheological properties of the semi solid also impact the printing process and structure formation. If the deposited layer is not strengthened enough it cannot withstand subsequent layer and the structure may collapse [101]. This can be prevented by crosslinking of the deposited layer [102].

It is expected that PAM will be used in the preparation of low cost, small batches of tailored, drug releasing tablets [99]. Indeed, PAM has been extensively used for the preparation of tablets [98–100,103,104] and chewable oral dosage forms [105]. In addition, drug releasing composite scaffolds for localized delivery [106], and a drug delivery patch [107] were developed as well. The developed tablets showed several types of release. Khaled et al. [98] printed tablets that showed controlled release. They similarly printed tablets containing three different drugs which showed sustained release [104]. Tablets that showed immediate release (i.e. by disintegration) were prepared as well [100,103]. Drug dissolution appeared to depend on the amount of layers printed and by adjusting the surface area/volume ratio the drug release could be adjusted. Zhu et al. [106] printed drug releasing composite scaffolds, which showed promise as both bone regeneration scaffolds and drug delivery systems. Sustained release of the drugs is achieved with these structures. Yi et al. [107] printed a flexible delivery patch which due to AM can be manipulated in geometry and drug release kinetics. These patches achieve drug release in a prolonged and controlled manner for over four weeks.

## 3.1.4 3D Inkjet Printing

3D inkjet printing involves the preparation of 3D structures through the formation and subsequent deposition of small droplets onto a substrate [108]. The droplets can be either a molten polymer/oligomer, polymer solution, or an ink-binder [109]. Droplet solidification can

then take place via cooling, curing, solvent evaporation or polymer growth from gas or liquid respectively.

Droplet generation is either done in a continuous (Continuous Inkjet, CIJ) or in a drop-ondemand (DoD) manner [108]. In CIJ, a continuous stream of ink is ejected from the nozzle as it travels to the substrate. A piezoelectric element in the nozzle breaks the stream into droplets. The positioning of the droplets onto the substrate is precisely controlled by applying a potential to the electrodes present at the nozzle and along the droplets path. Multiple-jet CIJ systems in which there are multiple nozzles and streams have been developed as well. In Fig. 6, a schematic representation of a CIJ 3D inkjet printing setup is shown.

Alternatively, DoD inkjet printers generate droplets only when required. DoD can generate droplets much closer to the substrate and thus also smaller droplets can be prepared. Droplet generation is achieved by, among others, thermal, piezoelectric, acoustic, and electrohydrodynamic methods [109] of which thermal and piezoelectric are most common. In thermal DoD inkjet printers, there is a heating element present at the nozzle. When a droplet is needed, the element heats the ink inducing vaporization of the ink in the nozzle which in turn creates a pressure pulse forcing the ink out of the nozzle. The inks need to be able to withstand high temperatures in this type of printing [109]. In piezoelectric DoD, an electric pulse is applied to the piezoelectric element at the nozzle which generates a pressure pulse that forces a droplet to be ejected from the nozzle.

3D inkjet Printing is a flexible, high resolution technique with selective deposition at a spatial resolution of up to 50 µm, due to the very low volumes used (picolitres) [108,110,111]. This allows for the preparation of drug delivery devices with personalized dosages and complex drug release profiles [108]. Additionally, the technique has the potential to be considerably scaled up or scaled out [110]. Inkjet printed drug delivery devices have been prepared from solutions, nanosuspensions and melts. Such devices include transdermal microneedles [108], drug containing implants [112], tablets [110] and complex 3D geometries [111]. Additionally, 3D inkjet printing has been utilized to investigate the potential of the technique to fill reservoirs or coat microneedles prepared by other 3D printing methods [113,114]. It has been shown that coating of microneedles with inkjet printing is a very versatile technique with various agents being included in the same microneedle array [108]. These coatings were uniform, and the process did not produce any alterations. For the tablets and 3D geometries, drug loading was between approximately 3 and 25 wt% [110,111]. Kyobula et al. found however, that with loadings between 10-25 wt% the relative release rate of the drug slowed down, most likely due to the drug being in its crystalline state at such amounts [111]. With lower percentages,

controlled release was observed, while the geometry of the structures was able to affect the release, although the geometry must be chosen very carefully.

## 3.2 Light-based Additive Manufacturing

In this section we discuss AM methods that are based on the fusion or curing of a polymeric material by light: selective laser sintering and vat polymerization, which includes stereolithography, digital light processing, and two-photon polymerization.

## 3.2.1 Vat Photopolymerization

In vat photopolymerization a 'liquid photopolymer in a vat is selectively cured by lightactivated polymerization' [60]. AM techniques that use a vat and are used in the preparation of drug delivery devices include stereolithography, digital light processing, continuous liquid interface production, and two-photon polymerization [115].

The light source in stereolithography is often a laser, which selectively illuminates the liquid photopolymer, also called a resin, from above. After a layer is completed the build platform moves down into the vat with resin [116]. This continuously supports the structure but requires a relatively large amount of resin.

The laser can also illuminate the resin from below through a transparent bottom in the vat. Alternatively, a UV or blue light projector can utilize a digital mirror device to also illuminate the resin from below. This is called Digital Light Processing (DLP) SLA [116–118]. In this process, the build platform moves up out of the vat after a layer is cured. Fig. 7 provides a schematic overview of DLP SLA. The top-down approach has a few advantages over the bottom-up approach [119]: (i) only small amounts of resin are needed, (ii) no recoating of crosslinked layers is required, (iii) the illuminated surface is always smooth, and (iv) oxygen inhibition is limited due to the illuminated resin not being exposed.

The only drawback is that after a layer has been fabricated, it needs to be separated from the vat. The mechanical forces acting on the (fragile) structures during this process can result in failure [116].



Fig. 7. 2D schematic overview of three types of light-based AM: DLP stereolithography, twophoton polymerization and selective laser sintering.

After a newly formed layer is separated from the vat, the resin needs to flow underneath or over the build platform to fill the space left by the newly cured layers[64]. Therefore, the viscosity of the resin cannot be too high. While resins ideally have viscosities of up to 5-10 Pa  $\cdot$  s [64,120,121], resins with viscosities of up to 133 Pa  $\cdot$  s have been reported [116]. The viscosity can be controlled by including a non-reactive diluent, but the addition of too much diluent will result in extremely fragile network structures which may fail during the separation of build structure and vat [116,121]. In addition, the resin should include a photo-initiator which upon irradiation with UV/blue light breaks up in two radial species [122] that can react with the double bonds of the meth(acrylate) or vinyl groups or with the epoxy-groups of the photo-crosslinkable polymer to form a network. It has to be noted that the toxicity of many photo-initiator used in AM resins remains a concern for drug delivery systems [123]. Natural photo-initiators, such as Riboflavin, have been proposed to be used as a safe alternative [118,123]. In order to obtain the designed structure and not have over-curing of the resin, the light penetration depth of the light needs be controlled [116]. This can be done by the addition of a dye, but other additives that can be included in the resin can decrease the light penetration by light scattering as well [119].

More recently, a novel form of stereolithography has been developed that prints layer-less by moving the build platform up in a continuous manner and having a printing 'deadzone' at the bottom of the vat created by oxygen inhibition [124]. This is called Continuous Liquid Interface Production (CLIP).

Photo-crosslinked networks are a promising group of materials for use in drug delivery devices [125]. By dissolving and/or dispersing the drugs into the macromer solution prior to

crosslinking, large amounts of drugs can easily be entrapped in the networks at high efficiencies and excellent dispersity [126,127]. Additionally, photo-crosslinking is fast and usually has only minimal heat generation making it a suitable method for the incorporation of heat sensitive drug molecules. The photo-crosslinkable polymers act as free radical scavengers, avoiding detrimental reactions of the drugs with those radicals [128,129]. The crosslinking density influences the swelling of the networks [130,131], which can be used to control drug release behavior from the networks. However, great care in the selection of the polymer/drug combination is of the highest importance. Xu et al. have reported a Michael addition reaction between the diacrylate group of the photoreactive monomer and the primary amine group of the drugs during the fabrication of a 3D printed oral dosage from by SLA [132].

There are two methods mentioned for loading drug in SLA, DLP and CLIP manufactured drug delivery devices: (i) disperse/dissolve the drugs in the liquid polymer resin prior to printing [70,133,134], and (ii) preparation of a delivery system for the drugs by SLA and subsequent coating of the system or filling a reservoir with the drugs by inkjet printing [113,114]. In the former case, these techniques offer the advantage of high surface finish and resolution, short print times, heat-free printing and the capability to print elaborate geometries which can control the release properties [123]. In this way, drug releasing tablets [118,123,132,134], implants [133,135], topical drug delivery devices [70] and hearing aids [136] have been prepared. When the drugs were dispersed/dissolved in the resin prior to crosslinking, amounts between 2 and 10% w/w were incorporated in the resin achieving high loading efficiencies of 94-98% [70,133,134]. Generally, SLA prepared structures show a controlled release of the incorporated drug [70,134], which may be prolonged as the network structure affects diffusion [134,136].

In the latter case, when SLA is used to prepare a delivery system that gets coated with drugs or acts a reservoir, the SLA prepared structures are often drug releasing microneedles. Using vat photopolymerization techniques for the preparation of microneedles is advantageous due to the high resolution, reproducibility, cost efficiency, and fast production [137]. The loading efficiency of these devices depends on the method used to load the drugs. Utilizing CLIP, microneedles with initial burst release and subsequent sustained release [138].

In two-photon polymerization (2PP) a femtosecond laser beam with a wavelength of 780-800 nm is usually used [139]. The beam is tightly focused on the photo-crosslinkable resin that is placed on a glass cover slip. The laser moves along the resin in a computer-controlled manner. After fabrication, the liquid resin is removed by washing with a solvent to reveal the designed 3D structure. Fig. 7 provides a schematic overview of a 2PP setup.

In general, 2PP can have two types of resin [139]. The first is a negative photoresist, where the laser beam results in the crosslinking of polymer chains via radical photo-polymerization meaning that the irradiated regions solidify into the desired structure and the non-solidified material can be washed away. Alternatively, there are positive photoresists where the laser beam results in cleavage of polymer chains resulting in degradation. Here, the reverse structure is irradiated and washed away post-production. Negative photoresists are most popular. The negative photoresists contain the prepolymers, photo initiators and crosslinkers.

A large advantage of 2PP is that it allows for the preparation of structures with much higher resolutions than previously discussed methods [140]. FDM has typical resolutions of 50-200  $\mu$ m and SLA has typical resolutions of 20  $\mu$ m. 2PP however, can be utilized to prepare structures in the order of 100 nm.

Do et al. prepared cubical structures which had a solid or woodpile structure [140]. The resins contained 10 wt% drugs and released up to 60% of the drug in 6 days. By varying the cylinder diameter and spacing and de slicing of the model the kinetics of the drug release could be affected. These parameters can be controlled independently of material chemistry, giving release from 2PP constructs cost and time advantages over conventional release methods. Ceylan et al. prepared enzymatically degradable miscroswimmers, which degrade in approximately 120 h and allow for remote magnetic powering and steering [141]. This results in navigation and precise localization allowing for local targeted delivery of drugs and other cargo types. In this way, systemic toxicity effects can be minimized, and the efficacy of single dose administration increased.

## 3.2.2 Selective Laser Sintering (SLS)

Selective laser sintering is part of the powder bed fusion (PBF) family of AM techniques. While another PBF technique, multi jet fusion (MJF), uses polymers as well, it has not yet been used for the preparation of polymeric drug delivery devices. In SLS, a powder is irradiated by a laser beam that results in the fusion of the powder at the irradiated parts [28,142]. Subsequently, the build platform is lowered, and a roller deposits a thin, fresh powder layer on top of the previous material. The following irradiation results in the next layer being generated. Fig. 7 provides a schematic overview of the SLS process. When using polymer powders, powder fusion is achieved by heating the polymer to above its melting temperature for semi-crystalline polymers or above the T<sub>g</sub> for amorphous polymers followed by cooling [64]. The use of polymers can only result in well-defined structures if the polymers can readily be processed into a powder

and have a high melting enthalpy and low thermal conduction [143]. As is the case for FDM, thermal degradation of the polymer during printing needs to be taken into account [143,144]. SLS has been studied for preparing drug delivery devices for the last few decades [145,146] and mainly orally disintegrating tablets are prepared [147]. SLS offers several advantages over other techniques. As no solvent is needed, no drying step or other significant processing post manufacturing is required and printed tablets can immediately be used [148,149]. In addition, SLS has a high turnover rate, does not require filaments or polymerizable components and no liquid binder [148]. The particle size is a very important factor in SLS [150]. Larger particles have better flow properties than smaller particles but reduce the packing density and require more energy for sintering. Smaller particles on the other hand, improve the content uniformity but they tend to aggregate which poses a challenge during the deposition of the new layer. In addition, blend segregation may occur if there is a size difference between components in the formulation. Polymer powders for SLS that are commercially available have a preferred size of 20-60 µm. The high precision of the laser allows for detailed structures and controllable internal architectures [36]. These details can be used to prepare tablets with braille patterns for visually impaired patients, improving patient independence and medicine adherence, and reducing the chance of medicine errors [151]. Personalized medicine can indeed be further improved by SLS prepared tablets, as the drug performance can be tailored to the patient by tailoring the design. By varying the polymers, the effect of drugs, structure geometry and polymer used was shown [147,152,153]. Depending on the drugs, both pH dependent and pH independent structures were fabricated [152]. By adjusting the dimensions and geometry the release rate could be tailored [153]. In recent studies, drugs were loaded in a range of 5-35 wt%. In all studies, around 100% drug loading was observed meaning the drugs did not degrade during the sintering process [147,152,153].

# 4. Polymers and Polymer Properties in Drug Delivery Systems Prepared by Additive Manufacturing

## 4.1 Essential polymer properties for drug delivery systems prepared by AM

For designing drug delivery systems based on polymers using AM, some general characteristic features are needed that makes them a potential candidate. Fig. 8 presents essential properties of polymers used for drug delivery systems through AM. Mechanical strength, adhesion, rheology, printability, biodegradation, biocompatibility, efficacy, hydrophilicity, particle size, absence of immunogenicity, biological inactivity, release rate, and the presence of functional

groups for covalent conjugation of drugs, targeting moieties, or formation of copolymer are the most important properties. In the following sections, we will provide a more detailed description of the most important ones.



Fig. 8. Essential properties of polymers used for drug delivery systems prepared by AM.

## 4.1.1 Biodegradable and non-degradable polymers

Polymer biodegradation is a phenomenon, which involves the cleavage of hydrolytically or enzymatically sensitive bonds leading to polymer erosion. Polymers used in drug delivery systems can be divided into two main groups, depending on the degradation behavior: (i) biodegradable and (ii) non-degradable polymers.

Biodegradable polymers play an important role in the pharmaceutical field since there is no requirement for surgical removal as they get degraded over time. Hydrolysis is the most common way of degradation of biodegradable polymers in drug delivery systems. During the hydrolysis, the bonds between the monomers and oligomers start cleaving, leading to weight reduction known as erosion. Crystallinity, T<sub>g</sub>, water uptake and the molecular weight are the factors that affect the rate of polymers' degradation [154]. The most important biodegradable polymers or copolymers used for drug delivery systems are PLA, PLGA and polycaprolactone (PCL) [155]. The degradation of polymers can be divided into three modes, including surface erosion, bulk degradation and bulk degradation with autocatalysis (Fig. 9) [156]. As is shown in Fig. 9, surface erosion includes the hydrolytic cleavage of the polymer backbone only at the surface, while bulk degradation leads to hydrolysis through the entire polymer matrix. The degradation behavior of the polymer in combination with the degree of polymer's crystallinity, water penetration into the system and its porosity, as well as drug diffusion in the polymer matrix can affect drug release from drug delivery systems based on biodegradable polymers.



Fig. 9. Degradation behavior for degradable polymers: (a) surface erosion, (b) bulk degradation and (c) bulk degradation with autocatalysis [156].

Non-degradable polymers have also been used in drug delivery systems; however, their drug release mechanism is not as complex as that of biodegradable polymers. For non-degradable polymers, the drug is released by diffusion. Pore size, pore interconnectivity and tortuosity within the polymer matrix, the distribution of the drug throughout the implant and the affinity for the drug to the polymer are the important factors that influence on the drug release rate from non-degradable polymeric systems. The most common non-degradable polymers used in the pharmaceutical applications are polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA), and polyurethane (PU) [157].

## 4.1.2 Biocompatibility and non-toxicity

Biocompatibility and non-toxicity are not the same. However, they are the most important features that a polymer-based drug delivery system should have. Toxicity is assigned to cell death mostly produced by soluble products released by a polymer, whereas biocompatibility is related more to the interaction of the polymer with living tissues. Some unwanted soluble products, such as degradation products, monomer residues, solvent, and additives, released from polymeric materials, may lead to toxicity [158]. Cytotoxicity of polymers can be evaluated using three different tests, including primary (level I), secondary (level II), and preclinical (level III) tests. *In vitro* and *in vivo* assessments can be done in level I tests. For cytotoxicity tests *in vitro*, the effects of the polymers directly on cultured cells will be evaluated using different cell lines. To assess the tissue response, the polymeric materials can be implanted subcutaneously or intramuscularly *in vivo*, for example in mice, rats or rabbits [159]. Contact of a non-toxic polymer with living tissues may lead to non-specific and/or specific

tissue reactions. A schematic presentation of possible reactions to contact between polymers and proteins and cells involved in the reactions is shown in Fig. 10. As can be seen in the figure, there are two cases that have been considered: (i) tissue compatibility, which means no permanent contact with blood and (ii) blood compatibility, which shows the permanent contact with blood [158]. To evaluate the polymers' biocompatibility, macrophages that are present in the whole body, including the oral tissues, play a key role in the pathogenesis of the inflammatory response [160]. In the next step, the animals' tissue that received drug containing systems through oral, injection or implants, should be assessed during level II tests. If the polymeric system has successfully passed the levels I and II tests, level III test should be done, and the systems should be tested in humans to assess its performance [159].



Fig. 10. Schematic representation of possible reactions to contact between polymers and some proteins and cells involved in the reactions [158].

## 4.1.3 Mechanical properties

Since polymers are widely used in pharmaceutical applications, their mechanical properties should be determined and evaluated. Deformation of a drug delivery systems' structure when subjected to an external force, can influence their performance and stability [161]. If a drug-loaded polymeric carrier decomposes during application due to mechanical damage before reaching the final target, premature drug release will be the result, which leads to using high doses for the patient. Therefore, determination of a polymers' mechanical properties, including deformation mechanisms and the elastic modulus can be beneficial to optimize the properties of these materials with respect to the final product or location of use [162,163]. Küçükoflaz et al. developed a series of poly (vinyl acetate-co-divinyl benzene) microspheres with various

monomer/cross-linker contents for oral/topical sustained drug release applications and investigated the elastic compression behavior of the prepared systems. The addition of divinyl benzene to the polymer structure caused the mechanical properties to change, with an increase in elastic modulus from 600 MPa to 1.6 GPa. In terms of drug release practices, the microspheres with a high content of divinyl benzene were found to carry drugs with high organic solubility and under mechanical stresses of less than 1.0 GPa [163].

## 4.1.4 Rheology and printability

Rheology is a critically important factor for predicting polymer's printability and the properties of the final pharmaceutical products as well as controlling the reproducibility of the printed structure. In addition, for bulk hydrogels the rheological properties are essential since the strength depends partially on these properties to obtain rheological synergies favorable to adhesion. For extrusion-based AM techniques, such as FDM and PAM, nozzle diameter, pressure drop and feed rate, as well as the thermal properties of the feed can influence on the rheological properties of polymers, excipients and formulation compositions [164,165]. For these techniques, understanding of how the flow behavior of the feed materials changes as a function of time, shear and/or extensional deformation, and deformation rate, is helpful to optimize the process conditions and select suitable polymeric materials.

Moreover, polymer viscosity, which is used for determining the stress and deformation rate relationship and to express the resistance to flow, is a very effective parameter for deriving the optimum conditions for extrusion-based AM techniques. Polymer viscosity can be affected by the shear rate used during printing process. Shear thinning behavior can be seen at high shear rates in the printing stage, leading to a decreased polymer viscosity [96].

## 4.2 Polymers in AM technologies for drug delivery

In the pharmaceutical industry, AM technologies are progressing to overcome the traditional manufacturing of drug delivery systems. However, only some polymers with mentioned properties can be used for the manufacturing of AM drug delivery systems for patient-customized medication with miniaturized dosage forms. In the following sections, we will review the most commonly used polymers and their properties and applications in AM technology for drug delivery systems.

## 4.2.1 Poly (ε-caprolactone) (PCL)

One of the suitable biodegradable polymers used for development of long-term drug delivery systems is PCL, owing to its flexibility, ease of processing, and biocompatibility with a very low degradation rate. PCL has been approved by the FDA for specific applications used in the human body, such as drug delivery systems, sutures or adhesion barriers. PCL is a semicrystalline polyester, which has a melting point of 55–60 °C and Tg of –54 °C with great organic solvent solubility [166]. Since PCL shows a high permeability to many drugs, is biocompatible, and can be fully excreted from the body once resorbed, it can be used for controlled drug delivery applications [154,156]. PCL biodegradation is slow compared with other polymers, which can be used for implantable drug delivery systems to deliver the drugs at a prolonged rate (up to months or years). Capronor<sup>™</sup> is a commercial PCL-based contraceptive implantable capsule for prolonged release of levonorgestrel for over a year, which will be eliminated from the body by bioerosion after 2-3 years [167]. Asikainen et al. [133], prepared PCL-based scaffolds using SLA for controlled release of lidocaine. The model drug was dissolved in the polymer matrix and was released through a diffusion-controlled mechanism. The influence of scaffolds' porosity and surface to volume ratio to the lidocaine release was studied and the results revealed that the scaffold porosity clearly affected the lidocaine release, which was faster from porous samples compared to the solid ones. However, the drug release profiles were not affected by the degree of porosity and surface to volume ratio of scaffolds (Fig. 11).



Fig. 11. (a) Dried scaffolds after drug release with different degree of porosities (D0, D50, D60, D70, D80, D90, D520, D565, D800 and D960), (b) amounts of loaded lidocaine in scaffolds, (c) cumulative release of lidocaine, (d) drug release profile by changing porosity (e) drug release profile by changing surface area. [133].

Drug-containing PCL-based implantable prototypes of intrauterine system (IUS) were developed using FDM [168]. The T-shaped prototypes were filled within the entire length of their backbone with 3 different indomethacin contents (5%, 15%, and 30%) (Fig. 12). The amount of loaded drug can affect the filaments' morphology and drug solid-state properties. A poorer quality of the device was obtained at higher drug loading. The degree of crystallinity, geometry and internal/external structure of the products influenced the rate of drug release from both filaments and prototypes. Because of the lower degree of the drug crystallinity in printed IUS, the drug release profiles from the printed devices were faster than from the corresponding filaments. Diffusion was the main mechanism of the drug release according to the *in vitro* studies and PCL biodegradation had insignificant influence.



*Fig. 12. PCL-based implantable prototypes prepared by FDM containing (a) 0%, (b) 5%, (c) 15%, and (d) 30% of indomethacin loading* [168].

Desired release profiles can be achieved by blending PCL with other polymers, leading to changes in degradation kinetics. Govender et al. [169], developed AM scaffolds with PAM using PCL, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) and polyacrylic acid (PAA) blend. They prepared PCL-based scaffolds using different molecular weights of PCL and filled the free areas of scaffold by printing PVA–PAA hydrogel layers containing sodium indomethacin. Adding the PVA–PAA hydrogel to the PCL scaffold caused increasing the structural strength of the scaffold. The

porosity evaluation revealed that the printed PCL blend had the lowest size and pore volume owing to the applied pressure during the printing process; however, they were in the acceptable range for application as a drug delivery-structural support system. The PCL–PVA–PAA scaffolds were used as a support system for load-bearing tissue damage where inflammation was high and showed controlled release of indomethacin.

## 4.2.2 Poly(lactide) (PLA)

PLA is a synthetic biodegradable aliphatic polyester, with considerable applications in drug delivery systems prepared by AM. PLA is a non-toxic, thermoplastic, high-strength, and high modulus polymer, which is mostly considered an appropriate polymer for processing by FDM [170]. The degree of crystallinity and mechanical stability of PLA can affect the drug release of encapsulated medicines. PLA is obtained through direct polycondensation of renewable lactic acid, or through ring-opening polymerization of lactide, which is degradable through hydrolysis. Since there are two optical isomers of lactic acid, L- and D-lactic acid, there are four forms of PLA: poly(L-lactic acid) (PLLA), poly(D-lactic acid) (PDLA), poly(D,L-lactic acid) (PDLLA), and meso-poly(lactic acid). Among them, PLLA and PDLLA are the most studied and used in pharmaceutical applications owing to their intrinsic properties. PLLA has melting point of 175 °C, T<sub>g</sub> of 60–65 °C, and mechanical strength of 4.8 GPa; whereas, PDLLA has lower T<sub>g</sub> and mechanical strength (55–60 °C and 1.9 GPa) [171].

Luzuriaga et al. [172], developed biodegradable PLA-based microneedles (MNs) for transdermal drug delivery using FDM. Several MN shapes were designed and printed with custom needle density, length, and shape. The Scanning electron microscopy images showed the needle tip sizes were in the range of  $1-55 \mu m$ , which could successfully penetrate and break off into porcine skin. The biocompatible MNs were able to penetrate the outer layers of skin and deliver a model therapeutic agent as shown in Fig. 13.



Fig. 13. Fracture test of PLA-based microneedles prepared by FDM a) in parafilm, b) in porcine skin, c) zoomed in image of porcine skin, and d) cross-section image indicating needle penetration depth in porcine skin. The solid line represents the end of the stratum corneum. Penetration test of microneedles e) to demonstrate the diffusion of methylene blue in the porcine skin and f) close up image of a single puncture showing delivery in the surrounding tissue [172].

In another study, Fu et al. [173], applied FDM for preparation of progesterone-loaded vaginal rings with different shapes (O, Y, and M shaped) and a controlled release profile using a PLA/PCL blend (ratio 8:2) and tween 80. To overcome the solubility limitation of progesterone in water, PEG 4000 was used for preparing progesterone solid dispersions to improve the release of progesterone in vaginas, as the PLA/PCL rings were hydrophobic, which would restrict the release of progesterone. To increase the hydrophilicity of printed rings, the surfaces of PLA/PCL particles were coated by 2% Tween 80. They showed a sustained release profile, which could find application in the treatment of local gynecological disorders.

## 4.2.3 Poly (lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA)

PLGA is the copolymer of lactide and glycolide, which is approved by the FDA for pharmaceutical applications as a biocompatible and biodegradable polymer. It is the most well-known and widely applied polymer in development of various drug delivery systems. PLGA is an aliphatic polyester that is formed through the copolymerization of lactic and glycolic acid monomers to yield different formulations depending on their copolymer composition [174]. All PLGA compositions have  $T_g$  of 40–60 °C, depending on the copolymer composition and are thermoplastic and amorphous below the  $T_g$  [175]. If the ratio of lactic acid is higher than glycolic acid leading to a lower degradation rate of PLGA and a slower drug release rate. The hydrophobicity of the drug and copolymer can be matched better by manipulating the copolymer composition, leading to an improved uniform dispersion of drug throughout the polymer matrix or to stabilize encapsulated proteins. Furthermore, the increased lactide ratio in a PLGA copolymer, not only prolongs the release and degradation time, but also enhances the rigidity of the material [176].

Since the drug delivery system based on PLGA alone cannot achieve both a long drug release time and flexibility simultaneously, PLGA was blended with PCL to prepare 3D-printed patches by PAM for the delivery of 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), an anti-cancer drug, in a controlled

manner and at therapeutic dose [107]. Patches were prepared by melting PLGA/PCL/5-FU followed by loading of the melt in the printing head of multi-head deposition system (MHDS). The MHDS consists of a nozzle-connected printing head, pneumatic pressure controller, and three-axis linear motion controllers. The PLGA/PCL/5-FU was extruded from the reservoir at 600 kPa and 140 °C and deposited on the stage with various shapes at room temperature (Fig. 14). The fabricated flexible patches showed a controlled drug release profile over four weeks, leading to the growth inhibition of subcutaneous pancreatic cancer xenografts in mice, with minimum side effects. To study the *in vivo* therapeutic effects of 3D-printed patches, two PLGA/PCL patches containing 100 and 150 mg 5-FU (P100 and P150) were attached under the tumor. The tumor size in mice that received P100 or P150 patches significantly decreased compared to the P0 patch group. In addition, the tumor growth was inhibited more significantly in the mice implanted with P100 at 24 and 28 days compared with P150 patch. The tumor size was decreased with P150 in comparison with P100 in the first 5 days, but after that the decrease in size was insignificant, whereas P100 decreased the tumor size constantly.



Fig. 14. Preparation of 3D-printed patch containing PLGA/PCL/5-FU using PAM [107].

In another study, Do et al. [177], prepared tubes using PAM, consisting of alginate shell and PLGA core to develop controlled and sequential delivery systems for fluorophores. The prepared tubes showed no cytotoxicity when incubated with the human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cell line or bone marrow stromal stem cells. Alginate tubes were printed using coaxial extrusion printing system and after which PLGA was injected manually. Fluorescein was loaded in the alginate sheath and rhodamine B was loaded in the PLGA core. Fig. 15 displays the fabricated device and the two layers are visualized through light microscopy (Fig. 15B). Fig. 15C shows that rhodamine B was homogenously mixed and dispersed throughout the core of the alginate-PLGA tube. *In vitro* drug delivery studies revealed that alginate-PLGA tubes enable a discrete and sequential release of two distinct molecules. The results showed that the fluorescein diffusion through the alginate sheath had occurred before the release of

rhodamine B from the PLGA core. This phenomenon led to an initial release of fluorescein followed by a delayed release of rhodamine B, which was consistent with the nature of the layered system. To highlight the advantage of developed system's structure, it was shown that rhodamine B in combination with PLGA without incorporation into the core of the alginate tube was released very quickly into solution.



Fig. 15. Images of alginate-PLGA tubes prepared by PAM. A) A photograph of an alginate-PLGA tube. B) A light microscope image of an alginate-PLGA tube with the alginate sheath and PLGA core. C) C) A light microscope image of an alginate-PLGA tube, where the clear shell is alginate and the light-purple core is PLGA containing rhodamine. D) A SEM image of alginate-PLGA tube [177].

## 4.2.4 Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)

PVA is a thermoplastic polymer, usually employed for oral dosage forms as a binder, control release agent or polymer carrier for amorphous solid dispersions. PVA has good water solubility, mechanical strength and bio-resorption. The melting point and  $T_g$  of PVA are 200 °C and 85 °C, respectively, and it degrades at a temperature range of 350-450 °C. Xu et al. [178], reported PVA-based tablets using FDM, which were injected with paracetamol (APAP)-containing gels (Fig. 16A). Moreover, as shown in Fig. 16B, they prepared three types of tablet models, Cylinder, Horn and Reversed Horn, with controlled structures to evaluate the effect of the inner architecture of scaffolds on the drug release profile. The *in vitro* drug release results revealed that the release profile can be controlled by using different geometries, which can be constant, gradually increasing, and gradually decreasing release profiles. Based on the obtained results, the horn model showed an increasing release profile that can be suitable for the patients

who have the drug resistance during medication. On the other hand, the reversed horn model showed a decreasing release profile, which can be suitable for hypertension cure.



Fig. 16. A: The process of preparing 3D printed PVA-based tablets through FDM method injected with paracetamol (APAP)-containing gels. B: Photos of 3D printed tablets with the three models. (a) Cylinder model, (b) Horn model, (c) R-Horn model [178].

PVA-PEG graft copolymer (Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> IR), was used as a hydrophilic matrix for preparation of printed tablets containing levetiracetam (LEV) using PAM for pediatric subgroups [103]. The drug release studies revealed that by increasing the layer numbers of printed tablets drug release rates were decreased. In addition, a prolonged disintegration time was achieved by increasing the amount of polymer effectively decreasing the drug release rate. Moreover, the surface area/volume (SA/V) ratio that is also linked to the dissolution behavior of the printed tablets, was found to be important factor, which can affect the drug release rate. Higher SA/V ratios showed faster drug release.

## 4.2.5 Ethyl cellulose (EC)

Ethyl cellulose (EC) is a water-insoluble thermoplastic polymer that has been recently found to be used in AM pharmaceuticals. EC is a linear polysaccharide derived from cellulose, in which some of the hydroxyl (–OH) functional groups are replaced by an ethoxy group (–O–  $CH_2$ – $CH_3$ ). It has a  $T_g$  of around 130 °C and a melting point of around 180 °C, which are dependent to the polymer molecular weight. EC is highly flexible and transparent and has considerable mechanical strength, toughness and film forming ability. In addition, EC has good compatibility with organic materials that allows it to be used as a rheology modifier in films,

binders, adhesives, and hot blends with other polymers [179]. These properties are taken advantage of while using EC in AM in the pharmaceutical industry. EC is usually used for sustained drug delivery systems as a polymer in drug formulations [180]. Yang et al. [181], reported additively manufactured tablets with an internal scaffold structure using EC for the sustained release of ibuprofen. Ibuprofen and EC, together with other excipients, were mixed and extruded into filaments by HME and printed into tablets by FDM (Fig. 17). The drug release behavior was affected by drug content, release modifiers, fill density, and shell thickness. In addition, the printing shape and quality were dependent on the drug content, printing temperature, print speed, layer height, fill density and shell thickness. A controllable 24 h sustained ibuprofen release behavior was achieved through a diffusion-erosion mechanism.



*Fig.* 17. *Typical appearance of a) HME filaments (ibuprofen=20%, EC:HPMC=3/1), b)* printing filaments (printed at 175 °C, 60 mm/s), c) *STL model and d)* printed tablets [181].

Multi-drug and controlled release miniprintlets with different sizes were developed by Awad et al. using SLS [36]. They investigated the suitability of SLS for manufacturing of miniprintlets using EC and Kollicoat IR as polymeric matrices and incorporating two model drugs, paracetamol and ibuprofen. The dual miniprintlets were prepared in two various configurations (Fig. 18); in configuration A (Con A), paracetamol was mixed with Kollicoat IR (Par/KIR region) and ibuprofen was with EC (Ibu/EC region). In configuration B (Con B), the positions of the drugs were exchanged, and paracetamol was mixed with EC (Par/EC region), while ibuprofen was mixed with Kollicoat IR (Ibu/KIR region). The release studies revealed that the release profiles were affected by varying the polymer and were programmed to achieve customized drug release patterns. The results showed that one drug was released immediately from the Kollicoat IR matrix, whereas the second drug mixed with EC was released in a sustained way over an extended time.



*Fig. 18. Schematic representation of dual miniprintlets with different compositions prepared by SLS: (a) configuration A and (b) configuration* [36].

## 4.2.6 Hydroxypropyl Cellulose (HPC)

Hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC) is a flexible and water-soluble polymer, which is a cellulose ether of which the hydroxyl groups on the backbone have been hydroxypropylated. HPC is suitable for formulating drug release systems with different release profiles owing to its availability in different grades of viscosity and average molecular weights (M<sub>W</sub>). High molecular weight HPC has high swellability, which is suitable for controlled-release drug delivery systems. HPC has high levels of hydroxypropyl functionalities (~ 70%) and is more hydrophobic compared to other water-soluble cellulose ethers. HPC has a low T<sub>g</sub> in the range of -25 °C to 0 °C as the moisture content varies from 1 to ~10% [182]. It is a highly thermostable polymer that makes it suitable for processes that require melting and extrusion [96].

3D-printed tablets based on an EC and HPC blend using HME and FDM were developed by Borujeni et al. to achieve zero order sustained release profile of carbamazepine (CBZ) [183]. The ratio of EC: HPC: CBZ blend had influence on the extruded filaments' mechanical and printability properties. The filament formulation containing CBZ, EC and HPC (3, 64.7 and 32.3% w/w, respectively) showed optimum printability and mechanical properties with hardness of around 72 N, which is suitable for handling and packing. Both blank and CBZ containing tablets prepared by HME and FDM were cylinder-shaped and their size were about 13 mm in diameter and about 3.5 mm in thickness. The optimum filament showed a first order drug release pattern, while the additively manufactured tablets showed a zero-order drug release and slower drug release rate than the optimum filament.

To overcome one of the major disadvantages of FDM by avoiding the filament preparation by HME, Goyanes et al. [92], used DPE for fabrication of sustained release itraconazole printlets (3D printed tablets) using four HPC grades (UL, SSL, SL and L) and evaluated the characteristics of the printlets. The prepared printlets showed a cylindrical shape and good

adhesion between the printed layers with good mechanical and physical characteristics. As shown in Fig. 19, by reducing the molecular weight of HPC, the smoothness of the printlets was increased in the following order:

HPCUL > SSL > SL > L.

The printlets prepared by ultra-low molecular grade HPC (HPCUL) showed faster drug release than the other HPC grades, since itraconazole is found as an amorphous solid dispersion.



Fig. 19. Pictures of itraconazole printlets prepared by DPE using four HPC grades, from left to right: Formulation UL, SSL, SL and L. Units are cm [92].

## 4.2.7 Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose (HPMC)

HPMC is a cellulose ether derivative in which the hydroxyl groups present in the cellulose ring have been substituted with one or more hydroxypropyl methyl groups. HPMC is a hydrophilic (water soluble), biodegradable, and biocompatible polymer that is used to increase the potential of active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) in the sustained release of drugs. It has high swellability, which affect the release kinetics of pharmaceuticals. HPMC has a  $T_g$  of 170–198 °C and by heating above 75–90 °C, it forms a gel [184]. Because of this property, HPMC has been used as capsule shells as a substitute for gelatin [185]. However, the dissolution and disintegration of HPMC capsules will decrease by increasing the temperature above 30 °C. Therefore, it usually advised to take HPMC capsules with cold water. The advantage of these capsules compared with hard gelatin capsules is their wider consumer acceptance because some of their ingredients are attained from vegetable sources [186].

Kadry et al. [35] used HPMC and diltiazem as a model drug, to develop both drug-free and drug-impregnated filaments for preparing tablets using FDM. They studied the thermal, crystalline, and cytotoxicity properties of the filaments, and designed and printed tablets with several infill densities and patterns. The *in vitro* drug release profiles and *in vivo* oral absorption of drug in rats were also investigated (Fig. 20). According to the *in vitro* drug release results,

the drug release profile was influenced by infill density, as well as infill patterns in which by increasing the infill density to 100%, the percentage of released drug was dramatically declined. By alternating drug-free and drug-loaded layers in some tablets, a delayed and intermittent drug release profile was seen, which depends on when the drug-loaded layers encountered the dissolution media. In addition, the oral absorption patterns also reproduce absorption profiles similar to those of *in vitro* release profiles and exhibited immediate, extended, delayed and episodic absorption of the drug from the rat gastrointestinal tract (GIT).



*Fig. 20. Multi-purposable filaments of HPMC for AM of medications with tailored drug release and timed-absorption using FDM* [35].

## 4.2.8 Polyvinyl Pyrrolidone (PVP)

Polyvinyl pyrrolidone (PVP) is a biodegradable and hydrophilic polymer, derived from Nvinylpyrrolidone monomer. PVP has been employed for a wide range of drug delivery applications, which include oral, topical, transdermal, and ocular administration. It has unique physical and chemical properties, including biocompatibility, nontoxicity, chemically inert, temperature-resistance, and pH-stability, solubility in water and numerous organic solvents, which make it suitable polymer for drug delivery systems [187]. Okwuosa et al. [188], developed individualized gastro-resistant tablets, which are associated with major challenges for clinical staff in hospitals and healthcare centers. They are employed in a wide range of shell-core designs using PVP as a core and methacrylic acid co-polymer as a tablet shell. A twin-screw HME was used for preparation of filaments for both core and shell. A powdered blend of PVP, plasticizer (TEC), filler (talc) or tribasic phosphate sodium (TBP) and API (theophylline) was taken in an optimized ratio to create core of tablet. Eudragit L100-55, TEC and talc were mixed at 135 °C for 5 min in HME and the extrusion was performed at 125 °C

using a nozzle (1mm) to prepare tablet shell. FDM was used to prepare shell-core tablets. The prepared tablets showed gastric resistant properties and a pH-responsive drug release profile in both phosphate and bicarbonate buffers.

In another study, SLS was used to develop personalized solid oral dosage forms with different shapes and Braille or Moon patterns on their surface targeted to blind or visually impaired individuals (Fig. 21). Kollidon VA64, a vinylpyrrolidone-vinyl acetate copolymer, was used for SLS printing owing to its good printability and fast disintegration properties and paracetamol was also utilized as a model drug. Fig. 21 shows the printlets fabricated by SLS with intricate and complex patterns, which confirms the potential of this technique for providing a revolutionary approach to improve medication adherence and independence amongst visually impaired patients to reduce medicine errors [151].



Fig. 21. Printlets with different shapes having Braille or Moon patterns using SLS and vinylpyrrolidone-vinyl acetate copolymer [151].

## 4.2.9 Polyethylene glycol Diacrylate (PEGDA)

Recently, PEG-based hydrogels have been widely used in the pharmaceutical field. Among PEG hydrogel-forming polymers, polyethylene glycol diacrylate (PEGDA) is a short chain polymer that has been investigated as a photopolymerizable acrylate to prepare hydrogels via AM technologies. Water solubility and availability of acrylate groups make this polymer a first choice to prepare hydrogels using light-based AM techniques. 3D-printed PEGDA-based scaffolds were developed by Vehse et al. using micro-SLA based on diode laser curing (DLC) for acetylsalicylic acid (ASS) delivery [189]. The mechanical analysis showed that the ASS concentration affected the compressive strength of the 3D-printed scaffolds. According to the reported results, the enriched and DLC-cured PEGDA showed the compressive strength of 7-

10 MPa, while the samples without ASS showed the compressive strength of 14 MPa. The drug release characteristics were studied in a physiological NaCl solution and the results showed an initial burst release phase and the ASS was released within the first 3 hours. In another study, PEGDA was used as a crosslinker to prepare pH-sensitive hydrogel-based drug delivery system. The drug release profile was dependent on amount of PEGDA and was delayed by increasing the amount of PEGDA in the reaction mixture [190]. Martinez et al. [191], used SLA to prepare cross-linked ibuprofen-loaded hydrogels. Hydrogels containing up to 30% w/w water, and 10% w/w ibuprofen, were successfully printed. Dissolution profiles exhibited that ibuprofen release rates were dependent on water content and the hydrogels with higher water content showed a faster drug releasing profile (Fig. 22).



Fig. 22. Printed hydrogels containing photoinitiator with various water contents (the scale is shown in cm) and dissolution profiles of ibuprofen from the four printed hydrogels in the dynamic dissolution system (n = 3). Red line shows the pH values of the media [191].

## 4.2.10 Ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA)

One of the most commonly used non-degradable polymers in implantable controlled-released applications is EVA, a copolymer of ethylene and vinyl acetate (VA). EVA is biocompatible and non-toxic, which has FDA approval for pharmaceutical applications. The VA content in an EVA copolymer can range between 0-40% with the amount affecting the properties of the copolymers, including polarity, adhesion, impact resistance, flexibility, optical properties, compatibility, stiffness, softening point, melting point, and crystallinity. Various grades of EVA copolymers have good printing potential and have been used in pharmaceutical applications for decades for the development of implantable drug delivery systems, such as custom-made T-shaped IUS and subcutaneous rods by FDM. EVA was used to print 5% and 15% indomethacin-loaded filaments. It was found that the indomethacin in the 3D-printed prototypes was amorphous, while it was crystalline in the corresponding HME filaments. This

difference affects the drug release profiles from the filaments and printed prototypes, leading to a faster release from the prototypes prepared by AM [192].

## *4.2.11 Polyurethane (PU)*

PU is a non-degradable thermoplastic polymer, which can be tailored with biocompatible characteristics to biological systems, such as blood, organs and organic tissues and biodegradability depending on its components. It is comprising of a relatively long and flexible oligodiol (soft segment) and a relatively rigid part imparted by a chain extender, diisocyanate (hard segment). The mechanical properties of PU can be easily modified and optimized by altering the hard and soft segment ratio and composition [193].

To improve biocompatibility and toxicity reduction, waterborne PUs and organic solvent-free PU systems have been developed for the controlled release of drugs, especially in the form of nanoparticles [194], hydrogels [195], films [196] and biodegradable implants [197]. Hung et al. [198] developed water-based PU scaffolds with a controlled release function for customized cartilage tissue engineering using low-temperature PAM. The scaffolds were printed from the printing ink containing an aqueous dispersion of PU, high viscosity hyaluronan and bioactive ingredients transforming growth factor beta-3 (TGF $\beta$ 3) or a small molecule drug Y27632 to replace TGF $\beta$ 3. The reported scaffolds increased the self-aggregation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and showed a time-dependent release profile of the bioactive ingredients. They suggested that the chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs and the produced matrix can be used for cartilage repair.

Recently, the use of isocyanate-based monomers in PU synthesis raised severe health concerns. Therefore, in the last decade, researchers have attempted to develop alternatives, to reduce the concerns about the toxicity and the environmental impact of the reagents used in PU synthesis. Isocyanate-free PUs have been recently developed as sustainable, more biocompatible, and environmentally friendly alternatives to traditional isocyanate-based PUs. Isocyanate-free PUs have good potential to be used in biomedical applications [199,200]. However, until now, no work has been done for preparing drug delivery systems based on isocyanate-free PUs using AM.

## 4.2.12 Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS)

PDMS is one of the most common non-degradable polymers employed in drug delivery systems. Instead of the hydrocarbon backbone in the other polymers, there are inorganic Si-O-Si units in the PDMS backbone. Through modification of the PDMS structure and changing

the degree of cross-linking, desirable mechanical properties that are needed for implantable materials can be achieved [201]. Due to the hydrophobic nature of PDMS, hydrophobic drugs are usually incorporated in the polymer for sustained release [46]. PDMS was used for controlled release of different drugs, such as hormones, digitoxin, histamine and atropine from different drug delivery systems with various shapes [201,202]. Holländer et al. [102], reported UV light cured PDMS devices prepared by SLA for drug delivery application. 3D printed structures with different pore sizes and different drug loadings were prepared using prednisolone as a model drug. It was concluded that the drug release rate was influenced by altering the surface area/volume ratio. In this study, both the extrusion-based AM and the UV-crosslinking was performed at room temperature, which make this method an alternative for development of controlled release systems comprising temperature sensitive drugs.

In this section, a wide variety of polymers that were used for preparing drug delivery systems by different AM techniques were discussed. However, since this field is rapidly developing, there are many published research studies that used several polymers or polymer blends for developing drug delivery systems using AM. Table 1 gives a comprehensive overview of materials (polymers and drugs) and several AM techniques used for the development of drug delivery systems.

AM technique	Polymers	Drug model	References
	PVA	Glipizide	[203]
	Eudragit <sup>®</sup> RS	Quinine	[71]
	PCL		
	PLLA		
	EC		
	PVA Paracetamol		[8]
FDM	НРС	Acetaminophen	[90]
	PLA	Acetaminophen	[204]
	PVA		
	НРМС		
	PVA-PEG graft copolymer		
	PEG		

Table 1. Comparative overview of polymers and drugs used in different AM techniques for development of drug delivery systems

-	EVA	Indomethacin	[192]
	PVPA, PVA-g-PEG, HPMC	Haloperidol	[205]
	PLA	Fluorescein	[172]
	PVA, PLA, Eudragit	Glimepiride,	[206]
	(poly(meth)acrylate)	Metformin, Mannitol	
	PLA, Eudragit	5-Fluorouracil and	[207]
		triethyl citrate	
	EC, HPMC	Ibuprofen	[181]
	PCL/Eudragit®RL100	Deflazacort	[77]
	Commercially produced Flex EcoPLA <sup>TM</sup> (FPLA)/PCL	Salicylic acid	[70]
	PCL	Lidocaine	[133]
	PLA/PVA	Clobetasol	[208]
		propionate	
		Itraconazole.	[92]
DPE	НРС	Caffeine.	[94]
		Tramadol.	[95]
	HPMC/Sodium starch glycolate	Guaifenesin	[98]
	(SSG)/Microcrystalline cellulose		
	(MCC)		
	HPMC/PEG	Glipizide	[104]
РАМ			
	2-Hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin	Carbamazepine	[100]
	(HPβCD)/HPMC		
	PLGA/PCL	5-fluorouracil (5-	[107]
		FU)	
Inkjet printing	PLLA	Levofloxacin	[112]
	PVA		[114]
-	PEGDA	Paracetamol	[120]
SLA	Dental SG, Formlabs	Insulin	[113]
-	PEGDA/PEG	Salicylic acid	[70]
-	PDMS	Prednisolone	[102]

\_

\_

\_

Journal Pre-proofs						
	PEGDMA	Bovine serum	[138]			
CLIP		albumin, ovalbumin,				
		and lysozyme				
	PEGDMA, HEMA	Rhodamine B	[135]			
	PEO, Eudragit, EC	Paracetamol	[153]			
	Kollicoat IR (75%	Paracetamol	[152]			
	PVA and 25% PEG copolymer)					
	Eudragit L100-55 (50%					
	methacrylic acid and 50% ethyl					
SLS	acrylate copolymer)					
	Kollidon® VA 64 and	Clindamycin	[148]			
	microcrystalline cellulos	palmitate				
		hydrochloride				
	Cyclodextrin Cavamax® W7 and	Ondansetron	[209]			
	Kollidon <sup>®</sup> VA-64	Hydrochloride				
	PEGDMA	Rhodamine B	[140]			
<b>2DD</b>	Gelatin methacryloyl, lithium	Dextran-FITC	[141]			
211	phenylphosphosphinate, iron					
	oxide, poly(ethylene glycol) amine					

## 5. Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Even without the use of AM, the potential of polymer-based drug delivery devices is evident. Polymers allow for drug delivery *in vivo* over an extended period at the exact site of action. Additive manufacturing can add novel dimensions towards truly tailored drug release profiles and targeted delivery as AM allows for personalized medicine and enables the preparation of complex geometries which can influence the drug release. Consequently, the use of AM for the preparation of polymeric drug delivery devices is receiving increasing amounts of interest in scientific research.

The highly regulated pharmaceutical industry is also highly conservative towards changing the established and validated procedures. In addition, AM may still need time to challenge the capacity of current conventional and highly efficient preparation methods of drug delivery

systems. One of the first challenges in the field will to further be push the enormous potential of personalized medicine by AM into the pharmaceutical industry.

Future developments in polymeric drug delivery include improvement of the functionality of the polymers, the incorporation of multiple drugs at the same time and programmed release. Improved functionality can be achieved by increased thermal and electrical conductivity, dielectricity, biocompatibility and degradability. These improved functionalities could be utilized to obtain more control over the release. Ultimately, this could result in true programmed release, for example by using the improved functionalities to enable drug release influenced by outside stimuli.

The next level of AM development is to achieve printing of truly multifunctional, multimaterial structures. Multimaterial AM processes usually utilize multiple nozzles for varying the material type, functionality and composition of each layer. Such multimaterial approach can significantly enhance the performance of manufactured structures. This does increase the complexity of the design process, as the effect of polymer-polymer and polymer-additive (composite materials, drugs or bioactive agents) interactions, and localized differences in mechanical and degradation properties need to be taken into account, perhaps even at a voxel-by-voxel level. This process can be revolutionized by using AI to help determine the desired formulation [210].

In addition, a recent development in the AM field, 4D printing[59], may have features that are interesting for the drug delivery systems. As with AM in 3D, structures are prepared in a layerby-layer manner. However, 4D printing adds a 4<sup>th</sup> dimension which was initially defined as 'time'. In other words, these structures can change in shape or function over time depending on their environment or as a response to stimulation. Intelligent drug delivery devices prepared by AM that in response to their surrounding change the type or rate of drug release, or even the type of drug released, would be an incredible step forward in personalized medicine. 4D printing could makes this possible. Recently, drug delivery devices were prepared by FDM which showed the ability to change shape based on temperature over time and the drug release was influenced on the shape of the device [211,212]. An interesting class of materials for 4D printing is formed by polymer conjugates. These intelligent release systems, along with AM, provide specific opportunities for designing programmable control release systems [59].

Further improvements could be achieved by improving the production methods of the drug/polymer feedstock materials used by the several AM techniques. Currently, the preparation of these materials routinely involves solvents or heat which poses a limiting factor in the use of bioactive agents and drugs. Milder conditions are preferred. Additionally,

improvements here can be achieved by the (re)design and synthesis of novel monomers and polymers that have specifically tailored thermal and rheological properties that fit with the AM technology they are intended for. Furthermore, this (re)design may positively affect the potential release mechanisms and kinetics, biocompatibility and toxicity of currently available polymers making them more suitable for drug delivery applications.

The challenge for AM of drug delivery devices is to combine the above-mentioned developments. This challenge should be considered an opportunity as applying the development of each respective field may be accelerated and completed by the other field. Through multimaterial printing for example, multiple drug can be incorporated and their positioning in the structure can be carefully controlled. By choosing the polymers carefully, so can be the type and moment of release.

AM of polymeric drug delivery devices is a rapidly expanding field that profits from developments in both separate fields. With the rapid technological advances in the field of AM and the continuous development of polymeric materials for AM, it seems only a matter of time before personalized, multimaterial, multifunctional drug delivery devices prepared by additive manufacturing find their way into the clinic.

## Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Academy of Finland (3D-Biomat and ValueBioMat projects).

## References

- H. Wen, H. Jung, X. Li, Drug Delivery Approaches in Addressing Clinical Pharmacology-Related Issues: Opportunities and Challenges, AAPS J. 17 (2015) 1327–1340. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-015-9814-9.
- [2] G. Tiwari, R. Tiwari, S. Bannerjee, L. Bhati, S. Pandey, P. Pandey, B. Sriwastawa, Drug delivery systems: An updated review, Int. J. Pharm. Investig. (2012). https://doi.org/10.4103/2230-973x.96920.
- [3] Y.K. Sung, S.W. Kim, Recent advances in polymeric drug delivery systems, Biomater. Res. 24 (2020) 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40824-020-00190-7.
- [4] W.B. Liechty, D.R. Kryscio, B. V Slaughter, N.A. Peppas, Polymers for drug delivery systems, Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng. 1 (2010) 149–173. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-chembioeng-073009-100847.
- [5] B. Wang, S. Wang, Q. Zhang, Y. Deng, X. Li, L. Peng, X. Zuo, M. Piao, X. Kuang, S. Sheng, Y. Yu, Recent advances in polymer-based drug delivery systems for local anesthetics, Acta Biomater. 96 (2019) 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.05.044.

- [6] K. Harrisson, Introduction to polymeric drug delivery systems, in: M.B.T.-B.P. Jenkins (Ed.), Biomed. Polym., Elsevier, 2007: pp. 33–56. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845693640.33.
- [7] L. Zhang, D. Shi, C. Shi, T. Kaneko, M. Chen, Supramolecular micellar drug delivery system based on multi-arm block copolymer for highly effective encapsulation and sustained-release chemotherapy, J. Mater. Chem. B. 7 (2019) 5677–5687. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9TB01221D.
- [8] A. Goyanes, P. Robles Martinez, A. Buanz, A.W. Basit, S. Gaisford, Effect of geometry on drug release from 3D printed tablets, Int. J. Pharm. 494 (2015) 657–663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.04.069.
- [9] J. Zhang, A.Q. Vo, X. Feng, S. Bandari, M.A. Repka, Pharmaceutical Additive Manufacturing: a Novel Tool for Complex and Personalized Drug Delivery Systems, AAPS PharmSciTech. 19 (2018) 3388–3402. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-018-1097-x.
- [10] A. Goyanes, F. Fina, A. Martorana, D. Sedough, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, Development of modified release 3D printed tablets (printlets) with pharmaceutical excipients using additive manufacturing, Int. J. Pharm. 527 (2017) 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.05.021.
- [11] S. Lamichhane, S. Bashyal, T. Keum, G. Noh, J.E. Seo, R. Bastola, J. Choi, D.H. Sohn, S. Lee, Complex formulations, simple techniques: Can 3D printing technology be the Midas touch in pharmaceutical industry?, Asian J. Pharm. Sci. 14 (2019) 465–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2018.11.008.
- [12] B.J. Park, H.J. Choi, S.J. Moon, S.J. Kim, R. Bajracharya, J.Y. Min, H.-K. Han, Pharmaceutical applications of 3D printing technology: current understanding and future perspectives, J. Pharm. Investig. 49 (2019) 575–585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40005-018-00414-y.
- [13] Spritam--a new formulation of levetiracetam for epilepsy., Med. Lett. Drugs Ther. 58 (2016) 78–9.
- [14] M.S. Ku, W. Dulin, A biopharmaceutical classification-based Right-First-Time formulation approach to reduce human pharmacokinetic variability and project cycle time from First-In-Human to clinical Proof-Of-Concept., Pharm. Dev. Technol. 17 (2012) 285–302. https://doi.org/10.3109/10837450.2010.535826.
- [15] N. Zaborenko, Z. Shi, C.C. Corredor, B.M. Smith-Goettler, L. Zhang, A. Hermans, C.M. Neu, M.A. Alam, M.J. Cohen, X. Lu, L. Xiong, B.M. Zacour, First-Principles and Empirical Approaches to Predicting In Vitro Dissolution for Pharmaceutical Formulation and Process Development and for Product Release Testing, AAPS J. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-019-0297-y.
- [16] L. Capretto, G. Byrne, S. Trenfield, L. Dowden, S. Booth, Formulation, Analytical, and Regulatory Strategies for First-in-Human Clinical Trials, in: Oral Formul. Roadmap from Early Drug Discov. to Dev., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2017: pp. 165–241. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118907894.ch7.
- [17] P. Januskaite, X. Xu, S.R. Ranmal, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, C. Tuleu, A. Goyanes, I Spy with My Little Eye: A Paediatric Visual Preferences Survey of 3D Printed Tablets, Pharmaceutics. 12 (2020) 1100. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12111100.

- [18] A. Goyanes, M. Scarpa, M. Kamlow, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, M. Orlu, Patient acceptability of 3D printed medicines, Int. J. Pharm. 530 (2017) 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.07.064.
- [19] A. Goyanes, C.M. Madla, A. Umerji, G. Duran Piñeiro, J.M. Giraldez Montero, M.J. Lamas Diaz, M. Gonzalez Barcia, F. Taherali, P. Sánchez-Pintos, M.-L. Couce, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, Automated therapy preparation of isoleucine formulations using 3D printing for the treatment of MSUD: First single-centre, prospective, crossover study in patients, Int. J. Pharm. 567 (2019) 118497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118497.
- [20] E. Fuenmayor, C. O'Donnell, N. Gately, P. Doran, D.M. Devine, J.G. Lyons, C. McConville, I. Major, Mass-customization of oral tablets via the combination of 3D printing and injection molding, Int. J. Pharm. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118611.
- [21] Y. Sun, S. Soh, Printing Tablets with Fully Customizable Release Profiles for Personalized Medicine, Adv. Mater. 27 (2015) 7847–7853. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201504122.
- [22] Y.J.N. Tan, W.P. Yong, J.S. Kochhar, J. Khanolkar, X. Yao, Y. Sun, C.K. Ao, S. Soh, On-demand fully customizable drug tablets via 3D printing technology for personalized medicine, J. Control. Release. 322 (2020) 42–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.02.046.
- [23] D.L. Wise, Handbook of Pharmaceutical Controlled Release Technology, CRC Press, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781482289985.
- [24] C. Luebbert, G. Sadowski, Moisture-induced phase separation and recrystallization in amorphous solid dispersions., Int. J. Pharm. 532 (2017) 635–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.08.121.
- [25] K. Kogermann, A. Penkina, K. Predbannikova, K. Jeeger, P. Veski, J. Rantanen, K. Naelapää, Dissolution testing of amorphous solid dispersions, Int. J. Pharm. 444 (2013) 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.01.042.
- [26] D.B. Warren, C.A.S. Bergström, H. Benameur, C.J.H. Porter, C.W. Pouton, Evaluation of the structural determinants of polymeric precipitation inhibitors using solvent shift methods and principle component analysis., Mol. Pharm. 10 (2013) 2823–48. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp300576u.
- [27] I. Ekladious, Y.L. Colson, M.W. Grinstaff, Polymer–drug conjugate therapeutics: advances, insights and prospects, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 18 (2019) 273–294. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-018-0005-0.
- [28] Y. Hu, Y. Hou, H. Wang, H. Lu, Polysarcosine as an Alternative to PEG for Therapeutic Protein Conjugation, Bioconjug. Chem. 29 (2018) 2232–2238. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.8b00237.
- [29] S. Yadav, A.K. Sharma, P. Kumar, Nanoscale Self-Assembly for Therapeutic Delivery, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 8 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00127.
- [30] G. Kocak, C. Tuncer, V. Bütün, pH-Responsive polymers, Polym. Chem. 8 (2017) 144–176. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6PY01872F.

- [31] A.K. Teotia, H. Sami, A. Kumar, Thermo-responsive polymers, in: Switch. Responsive Surfaces Mater. Biomed. Appl., Elsevier, 2015: pp. 3–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-85709-713-2.00001-8.
- [32] T. Higuchi, Rate of Release of Medicaments from Ointment Bases Containing Drugs in Suspension, J. Pharm. Sci. 50 (1961) 874–875. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600501018.
- [33] R.W. Korsmeyer, R. Gurny, E. Doelker, P. Buri, N.A. Peppas, Mechanisms of solute release from porous hydrophilic polymers, Int. J. Pharm. 15 (1983) 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(83)90064-9.
- [34] J. Siepmann, N.A. Peppas, Hydrophilic matrices for controlled drug delivery: An improved mathematical model to predict the resulting drug release kinetics the "sequential layer" model), Pharm. Res. (2000). https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026455822595.
- [35] H. Kadry, T.A. Al-Hilal, A. Keshavarz, F. Alam, C. Xu, A. Joy, F. Ahsan, Multipurposable filaments of HPMC for 3D printing of medications with tailored drug release and timed-absorption, Int. J. Pharm. 544 (2018) 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.04.010.
- [36] A. Awad, F. Fina, S. Trenfield, P. Patel, A. Goyanes, S. Gaisford, A. Basit, 3D Printed Pellets (Miniprintlets): A Novel, Multi-Drug, Controlled Release Platform Technology, Pharmaceutics. 11 (2019) 148. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11040148.
- [37] W. Chen, A. Palazzo, W.E. Hennink, R.J. Kok, Effect of Particle Size on Drug Loading and Release Kinetics of Gefitinib-Loaded PLGA Microspheres, Mol. Pharm. 14 (2017) 459–467. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.6b00896.
- [38] Y. Fu, W.J. Kao, Drug release kinetics and transport mechanisms of non-degradable and degradable polymeric delivery systems, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 7 (2010) 429– 444.
- [39] Saltzman, Fung, Polymeric implants for cancer chemotherapy., Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 26 (1997) 209–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-409x(97)00036-7.
- [40] J.H. Richards, The Role of Polymer Permeability in the Control of Drug Release, in: Polym. Permeability, Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 1985: pp. 217–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-4858-7\_6.
- [41] M. Roussenova, D.J. Hughes, J. Enrione, P. Diaz-Calderon, E. Sivaniah, Q. Song, J. Ubbink, P. Beavis, A. Swain, M.A. Alam, Free Volume, Molecular Mobility and Polymer Structure: Towards the Rational Design of Multi-Functional Materials, Acta Phys. Pol. A. 125 (2014) 801–805. https://doi.org/10.12693/APhysPolA.125.801.
- [42] J.S. Vrentas, C.M. Vrentas, J.L. Duda, Comparison of free-volume theories, Polym. J. (1993). https://doi.org/10.1295/polymj.25.99.
- [43] R.A. Hakala, H. Korhonen, J. V. Seppälä, Hydrolysis behaviour of crosslinked poly(ester anhydride) networks prepared from functionalised poly(ε-caprolactone) precursors, React. Funct. Polym. 73 (2013) 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2012.10.002.
- [44] P.J. Flory, J. Rehner, Statistical mechanics of cross-linked polymer networks II.

Swelling, J. Chem. Phys. (1943). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1723792.

- [45] P.J. Flory, J. Rehner, Statistical mechanics of cross-linked polymer networks I.
  Rubberlike elasticity, in: J. Chem. Phys., 1943. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1723791.
- [46] P. Colombo, Swelling-controlled release in hydrogel matrices for oral route, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (1993). https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-409X(93)90026-Z.
- [47] J. Rich, H. Korhonen, R. Hakala, J. Korventausta, L. Elomaa, J. Seppälä, Porous Biodegradable Scaffold: Predetermined Porosity by Dissolution of Poly(esteranhydride) Fibers from Polyester Matrix, Macromol. Biosci. 9 (2009) 654–660. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200800306.
- [48] K.J. Brodbeck, S. Pushpala, A.J. McHugh, Sustained release of human growth hormone from PLGA solution depots, Pharm. Res. (1999). https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018943107688.
- [49] S. Pechenov, B. Shenoy, M.X. Yang, S.K. Basu, A.L. Margolin, Injectable controlled release formulations incorporating protein crystals, J. Control. Release. (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.01.019.
- [50] S. Mitragotri, P.A. Burke, R. Langer, Overcoming the challenges in administering biopharmaceuticals: Formulation and delivery strategies, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. (2014). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4363.
- [51] S. Asikainen, K. Paakinaho, A.K. Kyhkynen, M. Hannula, M. Malin, N. Ahola, M. Kellomäki, J. Seppälä, Hydrolysis and drug release from poly(ethylene glycol)-modified lactone polymers with open porosity, Eur. Polym. J. 113 (2019) 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2019.01.056.
- [52] J. Mönkäre, R.A. Hakala, H. Korhonen, A. Kiviniemi, J.V. Seppälä, K. Järvinen, Controlled drug release from crosslinked poly(ester-anhydrides), Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 34 (2008) S35–S36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2008.02.098.
- [53] J. Mönkäre, R.A. Hakala, M.A. Vlasova, A. Huotari, M. Kilpeläinen, A. Kiviniemi, V. Meretoja, K.H. Herzig, H. Korhonen, J. V. Seppälä, K. Järvinen, Biocompatible photocrosslinked poly(ester anhydride) based on functionalized poly(ε-caprolactone) prepolymer shows surface erosion controlled drug release in vitro and in vivo, J. Control. Release. 146 (2010) 349–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.06.005.
- [54] A. Cossé, C. König, A. Lamprecht, K.G. Wagner, Hot Melt Extrusion for Sustained Protein Release: Matrix Erosion and In Vitro Release of PLGA-Based Implants, AAPS PharmSciTech. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-016-0548-5.
- [55] R.A. Keraliya, C. Patel, P. Patel, V. Keraliya, T.G. Soni, R.C. Patel, M.M. Patel,
  Osmotic Drug Delivery System as a Part of Modified Release Dosage Form, ISRN Pharm. 2012 (2012) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/528079.
- [56] C.I. Gioumouxouzis, E. Tzimtzimis, O.L. Katsamenis, A. Dourou, C. Markopoulou, N. Bouropoulos, D. Tzetzis, D.G. Fatouros, Fabrication of an osmotic 3D printed solid dosage form for controlled release of active pharmaceutical ingredients., Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 143 (2020) 105176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2019.105176.
- [57] A. Kolate, D. Baradia, S. Patil, I. Vhora, G. Kore, A. Misra, PEG A versatile conjugating ligand for drugs and drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release. 192 (2014) 67–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.06.046.

- [58] R.A. Petros, J.M. DeSimone, Strategies in the design of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 9 (2010) 615–627. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2591.
- [59] W. Zhou, Z. Qiao, E. Nazarzadeh Zare, J. Huang, X. Zheng, X. Sun, M. Shao, H. Wang, X. Wang, D. Chen, J. Zheng, S. Fang, Y.M. Li, X. Zhang, L. Yang, P. Makvandi, A. Wu, 4D-Printed Dynamic Materials in Biomedical Applications: Chemistry, Challenges, and Their Future Perspectives in the Clinical Sector, J. Med. Chem. 63 (2020) 8003–8024. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b02115.
- [60] European Committee for Standardization, Additive manufacturing General principles - Terminology (ISO/ASTM 52900:2017), (2017).
- [61] D. Puppi, F. Chiellini, Biodegradable Polymers for Biomedical Additive Manufacturing, Appl. Mater. Today. 20 (2020) 100700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmt.2020.100700.
- [62] M.A. Geven, V. Varjas, L. Kamer, X. Wang, J. Peng, D. Eglin, D.W. Grijpma, Fabrication of patient specific composite orbital floor implants by stereolithography, Polym. Adv. Technol. 26 (2015) 1433–1438. https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.3589.
- [63] M. Petretta, G. Desando, B. Grigolo, L. Roseti, 3D printing of musculoskeletal tissues: impact on safety and health at work, J. Toxicol. Environ. Heal. Part A. 82 (2019) 891– 912. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2019.1663458.
- [64] M.A. Geven, D.W. Grijpma, Additive manufacturing of composite structures for the restoration of bone tissue, Multifunct. Mater. 2 (2019) 024003. https://doi.org/10.1088/2399-7532/ab201f.
- [65] D. Espalin, J.A. Ramirez, F. Medina, R. Wicker, Multi-material, multi-technology FDM: Exploring build process variations, Rapid Prototyp. J. 20 (2014) 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1108/RPJ-12-2012-0112.
- [66] C.S. Lee, S.G. Kim, H.J. Kim, S.H. Ahn, Measurement of anisotropic compressive strength of rapid prototyping parts, J. Mater. Process. Technol. 187–188 (2007) 627– 630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmatprotec.2006.11.095.
- [67] S. Ahn, M. Montero, D. Odell, S. Roundy, P.K. Wright, Anisotropic material properties of fused deposition modeling ABS, Rapid Prototyp. J. 8 (2002) 248–257. https://doi.org/10.1108/13552540210441166.
- [68] B. Shaqour, A. Samaro, B. Verleije, K. Beyers, C. Vervaet, P. Cos, Production of Drug Delivery Systems Using Fused Filament Fabrication: A Systematic Review, Pharmaceutics. 12 (2020) 517. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12060517.
- [69] M. Saviano, R.P. Aquino, P. Del Gaudio, F. Sansone, P. Russo, Poly(vinyl alcohol) 3D printed tablets: The effect of polymer particle size on drug loading and process efficiency, Int. J. Pharm. 561 (2019) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.02.025.
- [70] A. Goyanes, U. Det-Amornrat, J. Wang, A.W. Basit, S. Gaisford, 3D scanning and 3D printing as innovative technologies for fabricating personalized topical drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release. 234 (2016) 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.034.
- [71] W. Kempin, C. Franz, L. Koster, F. Schneider, M. Bogdahn, W. Weitschies, A.

Seidlitz, Assessment of different polymers and drug loads for fused deposition modeling of drug loaded implants, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 115 (2017) 84–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.02.014.

- [72] N. Qamar, N. Abbas, M. Irfan, A. Hussain, M.S. Arshad, S. Latif, F. Mehmood, M.U. Ghori, Personalized 3D printed ciprofloxacin impregnated meshes for the management of hernia, J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol. 53 (2019) 101164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2019.101164.
- [73] M. Ibrahim, M. Barnes, R. McMillin, D.W. Cook, S. Smith, M. Halquist, D. Wijesinghe, T.D. Roper, 3D Printing of Metformin HCl PVA Tablets by Fused Deposition Modeling: Drug Loading, Tablet Design, and Dissolution Studies, AAPS PharmSciTech. 20 (2019) 195. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-019-1400-5.
- [74] T. Tagami, K. Fukushige, E. Ogawa, N. Hayashi, T. Ozeki, 3D printing factors important for the fabrication of polyvinylalcohol filament-based tablets, Biol. Pharm. Bull. 40 (2017) 357–364. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b16-00878.
- [75] W. Kempin, V. Domsta, G. Grathoff, I. Brecht, B. Semmling, S. Tillmann, W. Weitschies, A. Seidlitz, Immediate Release 3D-Printed Tablets Produced Via Fused Deposition Modeling of a Thermo-Sensitive Drug, Pharm. Res. 35 (2018) 124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-018-2405-6.
- [76] E.Y. Teo, S.-Y. Ong, M.S. Khoon Chong, Z. Zhang, J. Lu, S. Moochhala, B. Ho, S.-H. Teoh, Polycaprolactone-based fused deposition modeled mesh for delivery of antibacterial agents to infected wounds, Biomaterials. 32 (2011) 279–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.08.089.
- [77] R.C.R. Beck, P.S. Chaves, A. Goyanes, B. Vukosavljevic, A. Buanz, M. Windbergs, A.W. Basit, S. Gaisford, 3D printed tablets loaded with polymeric nanocapsules: An innovative approach to produce customized drug delivery systems, Int. J. Pharm. 528 (2017) 268–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.05.074.
- [78] J. Long, A. V. Nand, S. Ray, S. Mayhew, D. White, C.R. Bunt, A. Seyfoddin, Development of customised 3D printed biodegradable projectile for administrating extended-release contraceptive to wildlife, Int. J. Pharm. 548 (2018) 349–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.07.002.
- [79] H. Patil, R. V. Tiwari, M.A. Repka, Hot-Melt Extrusion: from Theory to Application in Pharmaceutical Formulation, AAPS PharmSciTech. 17 (2016) 20–42. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-015-0360-7.
- [80] M. Sadia, A. Isreb, I. Abbadi, M. Isreb, D. Aziz, A. Selo, P. Timmins, M.A. Alhnan, From 'fixed dose combinations' to 'a dynamic dose combiner': 3D printed bi-layer antihypertensive tablets, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 123 (2018) 484–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2018.07.045.
- [81] A. Isreb, K. Baj, M. Wojsz, M. Isreb, M. Peak, M.A. Alhnan, 3D printed oral theophylline doses with innovative 'radiator-like' design: Impact of polyethylene oxide (PEO) molecular weight, Int. J. Pharm. 564 (2019) 98–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.04.017.
- [82] B.C. Pereira, A. Isreb, R.T. Forbes, F. Dores, R. Habashy, J.-B. Petit, M.A. Alhnan, E.F. Oga, 'Temporary Plasticiser': A novel solution to fabricate 3D printed patientcentred cardiovascular 'Polypill' architectures, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 135 (2019)

94-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.12.009.

- [83] B.C. Pereira, A. Isreb, M. Isreb, R.T. Forbes, E.F. Oga, M.A. Alhnan, Additive Manufacturing of a Point-of-Care "Polypill:" Fabrication of Concept Capsules of Complex Geometry with Bespoke Release against Cardiovascular Disease, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 9 (2020) 2000236. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.202000236.
- [84] A. Melocchi, M. Uboldi, A. Maroni, A. Foppoli, L. Palugan, L. Zema, A. Gazzaniga, 3D printing by fused deposition modeling of single- and multi-compartment hollow systems for oral delivery – A review, Int. J. Pharm. 579 (2020) 119155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119155.
- [85] S.J. Trenfield, A. Awad, C.M. Madla, G.B. Hatton, J. Firth, A. Goyanes, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, Shaping the future: recent advances of 3D printing in drug delivery and healthcare, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 16 (2019) 1081–1094. https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2019.1660318.
- [86] A. Melocchi, F. Parietti, S. Maccagnan, M.A. Ortenzi, S. Antenucci, F. Briatico-Vangosa, A. Maroni, A. Gazzaniga, L. Zema, Industrial Development of a 3D-Printed Nutraceutical Delivery Platform in the Form of a Multicompartment HPC Capsule, AAPS PharmSciTech. 19 (2018) 3343–3354. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-018-1029-9.
- [87] S.J. Trenfield, H. Xian Tan, A. Awad, A. Buanz, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, A. Goyanes, Track-and-trace: Novel anti-counterfeit measures for 3D printed personalized drug products using smart material inks, Int. J. Pharm. 567 (2019) 118443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.06.034.
- [88] J. Zhang, X. Feng, H. Patil, R. V. Tiwari, M.A. Repka, Coupling 3D printing with hotmelt extrusion to produce controlled-release tablets, Int. J. Pharm. 519 (2017) 186– 197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.12.049.
- [89] K. Ilyés, A. Balogh, T. Casian, T. Igricz, E. Borbás, B. Démuth, P. Vass, L. Menyhárt, N.K. Kovács, G. Marosi, I. Tomuţă, Z.K. Nagy, 3D floating tablets: Appropriate 3D design from the perspective of different in vitro dissolution testing methodologies, Int. J. Pharm. 567 (2019) 118433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.06.024.
- [90] A. Melocchi, F. Parietti, G. Loreti, A. Maroni, A. Gazzaniga, L. Zema, 3D printing by fused deposition modeling (FDM) of a swellable/erodible capsular device for oral pulsatile release of drugs, J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol. 30 (2015) 360–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2015.07.016.
- [91] B. Arafat, M. Wojsz, A. Isreb, R.T. Forbes, M. Isreb, W. Ahmed, T. Arafat, M.A. Alhnan, Tablet fragmentation without a disintegrant: A novel design approach for accelerating disintegration and drug release from 3D printed cellulosic tablets, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 118 (2018) 191–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2018.03.019.
- [92] A. Goyanes, N. Allahham, S.J. Trenfield, E. Stoyanov, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, Direct powder extrusion 3D printing: Fabrication of drug products using a novel single-step process, Int. J. Pharm. 567 (2019) 118471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118471.
- [93] X. Liu, B. Chi, Z. Jiao, J. Tan, F. Liu, W. Yang, A large-scale double-stage-screw 3D printer for fused deposition of plastic pellets, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 134 (2017) 45147. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.45147.

- [94] M. Fanous, S. Gold, S. Muller, S. Hirsch, J. Ogorka, G. Imanidis, Simplification of fused deposition modeling 3D-printing paradigm: Feasibility of 1-step direct powder printing for immediate release dosage form production, Int. J. Pharm. 578 (2020) 119124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119124.
- [95] J.J. Ong, A. Awad, A. Martorana, S. Gaisford, E. Stoyanov, A.W. Basit, A. Goyanes, 3D printed opioid medicines with alcohol-resistant and abuse-deterrent properties, Int. J. Pharm. 579 (2020) 119169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119169.
- [96] M.A. Azad, D. Olawuni, G. Kimbell, A.Z.M. Badruddoza, M.S. Hossain, T. Sultana, Polymers for Extrusion-Based 3D Printing of Pharmaceuticals: A Holistic Materials– Process Perspective, Pharmaceutics. 12 (2020) 124. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12020124.
- [97] J. Goole, K. Amighi, 3D printing in pharmaceutics: A new tool for designing customized drug delivery systems, Int. J. Pharm. 499 (2016) 376–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.12.071.
- [98] S.A. Khaled, J.C. Burley, M.R. Alexander, C.J. Roberts, Desktop 3D printing of controlled release pharmaceutical bilayer tablets, Int. J. Pharm. 461 (2014) 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.11.021.
- [99] F. Dores, M. Kuźmińska, C. Soares, M. Bohus, L. A Shervington, R. Habashy, B.C. Pereira, M. Peak, A. Isreb, M.A. Alhnan, Temperature and solvent facilitated extrusion based 3D printing for pharmaceuticals, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 152 (2020) 105430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2020.105430.
- [100] J. Conceição, X. Farto-Vaamonde, A. Goyanes, O. Adeoye, A. Concheiro, H. Cabral-Marques, J.M. Sousa Lobo, C. Alvarez-Lorenzo, Hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin-based fast dissolving carbamazepine printlets prepared by semisolid extrusion 3D printing, Carbohydr. Polym. 221 (2019) 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2019.05.084.
- [101] M.A. Alhnan, T.C. Okwuosa, M. Sadia, K.W. Wan, W. Ahmed, B. Arafat, Emergence of 3D Printed Dosage Forms: Opportunities and Challenges, Pharm. Res. 33 (2016) 1817–1832. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-1933-1.
- [102] J. Holländer, R. Hakala, J. Suominen, N. Moritz, J. Yliruusi, N. Sandler, 3D printed UV light cured polydimethylsiloxane devices for drug delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 544 (2018) 433–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.11.016.
- [103] I. El Aita, J. Rahman, J. Breitkreutz, J. Quodbach, 3D-Printing with precise layer-wise dose adjustments for paediatric use via pressure-assisted microsyringe printing, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 157 (2020) 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2020.09.012.
- [104] S.A. Khaled, J.C. Burley, M.R. Alexander, J. Yang, C.J. Roberts, 3D printing of tablets containing multiple drugs with defined release profiles, Int. J. Pharm. 494 (2015) 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.07.067.
- [105] K. Rycerz, K.A. Stepien, M. Czapiewska, B.T. Arafat, R. Habashy, A. Isreb, M. Peak, M.A. Alhnan, Embedded 3D Printing of Novel Bespoke Soft Dosage Form Concept for Pediatrics, Pharmaceutics. 11 (2019) 630. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11120630.
- [106] M. Zhu, K. Li, Y. Zhu, J. Zhang, X. Ye, 3D-printed hierarchical scaffold for localized isoniazid/rifampin drug delivery and osteoarticular tuberculosis therapy, Acta

Biomater. 16 (2015) 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.01.034.

- [107] H. Yi, Y. Choi, K.S. Kang, J.M. Hong, R.G. Pati, M.N. Park, I.K. Shim, C.M. Lee, S.C. Kim, D. Cho, A 3D-printed local drug delivery patch for pancreatic cancer growth suppression, J. Control. Release. 238 (2016) 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.06.015.
- [108] S.N. Economidou, D.A. Lamprou, D. Douroumis, 3D printing applications for transdermal drug delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 544 (2018) 415–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.01.031.
- [109] J. Li, F. Rossignol, J. Macdonald, Inkjet printing for biosensor fabrication: Combining chemistry and technology for advanced manufacturing, Lab Chip. 15 (2015) 2538– 2558. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5lc00235d.
- [110] E.A. Clark, M.R. Alexander, D.J. Irvine, C.J. Roberts, M.J. Wallace, S. Sharpe, J. Yoo, R.J.M. Hague, C.J. Tuck, R.D. Wildman, 3D printing of tablets using inkjet with UV photoinitiation, Int. J. Pharm. 529 (2017) 523–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.06.085.
- [111] M. Kyobula, A. Adedeji, M.R. Alexander, E. Saleh, R. Wildman, I. Ashcroft, P.R. Gellert, C.J. Roberts, 3D inkjet printing of tablets exploiting bespoke complex geometries for controlled and tuneable drug release, J. Control. Release. 261 (2017) 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.06.025.
- [112] W. Huang, Q. Zheng, W. Sun, H. Xu, X. Yang, Levofloxacin implants with predefined microstructure fabricated by three-dimensional printing technique, Int. J. Pharm. 339 (2007) 33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2007.02.021.
- [113] C.P.P. Pere, S.N. Economidou, G. Lall, C. Ziraud, J.S. Boateng, B.D. Alexander, D.A. Lamprou, D. Douroumis, 3D printed microneedles for insulin skin delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 544 (2018) 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.03.031.
- [114] L. Vaut, J.J. Juszczyk, K. Kamguyan, K.E. Jensen, G. Tosello, A. Boisen, 3D Printing of Reservoir Devices for Oral Drug Delivery: From Concept to Functionality through Design Improvement for Enhanced Mucoadhesion, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 6 (2020) 2478–2486. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.9b01760.
- [115] X. Xu, A. Awad, P. Robles-Martinez, S. Gaisford, A. Goyanes, A.W. Basit, Vat photopolymerization 3D printing for advanced drug delivery and medical device applications, J. Control. Release. (2020) 0–1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.10.008.
- [116] B. van Bochove, G. Hannink, P. Buma, D.W. Grijpma, Preparation of Designed Poly(trimethylene carbonate) Meniscus Implants by Stereolithography: Challenges in Stereolithography, Macromol. Biosci. 16 (2016) 1853–1863. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201600290.
- [117] K.E.G. Dienel, B. van Bochove, J. V. Seppälä, Additive Manufacturing of Bioactive Poly(trimethylene carbonate)/β-Tricalcium Phosphate Composites for Bone Regeneration, Biomacromolecules. 21 (2020) 366–375. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.9b01272.
- [118] Madzarevic, Medarevic, Vulovic, Sustersic, Djuris, Filipovic, Ibric, Optimization and Prediction of Ibuprofen Release from 3D DLP Printlets Using Artificial Neural

Networks, Pharmaceutics. 11 (2019) 544. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11100544.

- [119] F.P.W. Melchels, J. Feijen, D.W. Grijpma, A review on stereolithography and its applications in biomedical engineering, Biomaterials. 31 (2010) 6121–6130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.04.050.
- [120] F.P.W. Melchels, J. Feijen, D.W. Grijpma, A poly(d,l-lactide) resin for the preparation of tissue engineering scaffolds by stereolithography, Biomaterials. 30 (2009) 3801– 3809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.03.055.
- [121] S. Schüller-Ravoo, J. Feijen, D.W. Grijpma, Preparation of flexible and elastic poly(trimethylene carbonate) structures by stereolithography, Macromol. Biosci. 11 (2011) 1662–1671. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201100203.
- [122] F.P.W. Melchels, A.H. Velders, J. Feijen, D.W. Grijpma, Photo-Cross-Linked Poly( DL-lactide)-Based Networks. Structural Characterization by HR-MAS NMR Spectroscopy and Hydrolytic Degradation Behavior, Macromolecules. 43 (2010) 8570–8579. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma1011705.
- [123] I. Karakurt, A. Aydoğdu, S. Çıkrıkcı, J. Orozco, L. Lin, Stereolithography (SLA) 3D printing of ascorbic acid loaded hydrogels: A controlled release study, Int. J. Pharm. 584 (2020) 119428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119428.
- [124] J.R. Tumbleston, D. Shirvanyants, N. Ermoshkin, R. Janusziewicz, A.R. Johnson, D. Kelly, K. Chen, R. Pinschmidt, J.P. Rolland, A. Ermoshkin, E.T. Samulski, J.M. DeSimone, Continuous liquid interface production of 3D objects, Science (80-. ). 347 (2015) 1349–1352. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa2397.
- [125] B. van Bochove, D.W. Grijpma, Photo-crosslinked synthetic biodegradable polymer networks for biomedical applications, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 30 (2019) 77–106. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/09205063.2018.1553105.
- [126] J. Jansen, M.P. Tibbe, G. Mihov, J. Feijen, D.W. Grijpma, Photo-crosslinked networks prepared from fumaric acid monoethyl ester-functionalized poly(d,l-lactic acid) oligomers and N-vinyl-2-pyrrolidone for the controlled and sustained release of proteins, Acta Biomater. 8 (2012) 3652–3659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2012.06.011.
- [127] J. Jansen, G. Mihov, J. Feijen, D.W. Grijpma, Photo-Crosslinked Biodegradable Hydrogels Prepared From Fumaric Acid Monoethyl Ester-Functionalized Oligomers for Protein Delivery, Macromol. Biosci. 12 (2012) 692–702. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201100468.
- [128] C. Lin, S.M. Sawicki, A.T. Metters, Free-Radical-Mediated Protein Inactivation and Recovery during Protein Photoencapsulation, Biomacromolecules. 9 (2008) 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm700782c.
- [129] F. Gu, R. Neufeld, B. Amsden, Maintenance of vascular endothelial growth factor and potentially other therapeutic proteins bioactivity during a photo-initiated free radical cross-linking reaction forming biodegradable elastomers, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 66 (2007) 21–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2006.08.006.
- [130] B. van Bochove, S. Spoljaric, J. Seppälä, P. Sotta, A. Rios de Anda, Multiscale Structural Characterization of Biocompatible Poly(trimethylene carbonate)

Photoreticulated Networks, ACS Appl. Polym. Mater. 1 (2019) 1811–1820. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsapm.9b00338.

- [131] B. van Bochove, S. Spoljaric, J. Seppälä, A. Rios de Anda, Multiscale structural characterization of biocompatible poly(trimethylene carbonate) networks photo-crosslinked in a solvent, Polym. Test. 90 (2020) 106740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymertesting.2020.106740.
- [132] X. Xu, P. Robles-Martinez, C.M. Madla, F. Joubert, A. Goyanes, A.W. Basit, S. Gaisford, Stereolithography (SLA) 3D printing of an antihypertensive polyprintlet: Case study of an unexpected photopolymer-drug reaction, Addit. Manuf. 33 (2020) 101071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2020.101071.
- [133] S. Asikainen, B. van Bochove, J. V Seppälä, Drug-releasing biopolymeric structures manufactured via stereolithography, Biomed. Phys. Eng. Express. 5 (2019) 025008. https://doi.org/10.1088/2057-1976/aaf0e0.
- [134] J. Wang, A. Goyanes, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, Stereolithographic (SLA) 3D printing of oral modified-release dosage forms, Int. J. Pharm. 503 (2016) 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.03.016.
- [135] C.J. Bloomquist, M.B. Mecham, M.D. Paradzinsky, R. Janusziewicz, S.B. Warner, J.C. Luft, S.J. Mecham, A.Z. Wang, J.M. DeSimone, Controlling release from 3D printed medical devices using CLIP and drug-loaded liquid resins, J. Control. Release. 278 (2018) 9–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.03.026.
- [136] M. Vivero-Lopez, X. Xu, A. Muras, A. Otero, A. Concheiro, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, C. Alvarez-Lorenzo, A. Goyanes, Anti-biofilm multi drug-loaded 3D printed hearing aids, Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 119 (2021) 111606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2020.111606.
- [137] S.N. Economidou, C.P.P. Pere, A. Reid, M.J. Uddin, J.F.C. Windmill, D.A. Lamprou, D. Douroumis, 3D printed microneedle patches using stereolithography (SLA) for intradermal insulin delivery, Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 102 (2019) 743–755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.04.063.
- [138] C.L. Caudill, J.L. Perry, S. Tian, J.C. Luft, J.M. DeSimone, Spatially controlled coating of continuous liquid interface production microneedles for transdermal protein delivery, J. Control. Release. 284 (2018) 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.05.042.
- [139] J. Xing, M. Zheng, X. Duan, Two-photon polymerization microfabrication of hydrogels: an advanced 3D printing technology for tissue engineering and drug delivery, Chem. Soc. Rev. 44 (2015) 5031–5039. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5CS00278H.
- [140] A. Do, K.S. Worthington, B.A. Tucker, A.K. Salem, Controlled drug delivery from 3D printed two-photon polymerized poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate devices, Int. J. Pharm. 552 (2018) 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.09.065.
- [141] H. Ceylan, I.C. Yasa, O. Yasa, A.F. Tabak, J. Giltinan, M. Sitti, 3D-Printed Biodegradable Microswimmer for Theranostic Cargo Delivery and Release, ACS Nano. 13 (2019) 3353–3362. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.8b09233.
- [142] D. Tarn, C.E. Ashley, M. Xue, E.C. Carnes, J.I. Zink, C.J. Brinker, Mesoporous Silica

Nanoparticle Nanocarriers: Biofunctionality and Biocompatibility, Acc. Chem. Res. 46 (2013) 792–801. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar3000986.

- [143] B. Wendel, D. Rietzel, F. Kühnlein, R. Feulner, G. Hülder, E. Schmachtenberg, Additive processing of polymers, Macromol. Mater. Eng. 293 (2008) 799–809. https://doi.org/10.1002/mame.200800121.
- [144] R.L. Simpson, F.E. Wiria, A.A. Amis, C.K. Chua, K.F. Leong, U.N. Hansen, M. Chandrasekaran, M.W. Lee, Development of a 95/5 poly(L-lactide-coglycolide)/hydroxylapatite and β-tricalcium phosphate scaffold as bone replacement material via selective laser sintering, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part B Appl. Biomater. 84B (2008) 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.30839.
- [145] K.H. Low, K.F. Leong, C.K. Chua, Z.H. Du, C.M. Cheah, Characterization of SLS parts for drug delivery devices, Rapid Prototyp. J. 7 (2001) 262–268. https://doi.org/10.1108/13552540110410468.
- [146] C.M. Cheah, K.F. Leong, C.K. Chua, K.H. Low, H.S. Quek, Characterization of microfeatures in selective laser sintered drug delivery devices, Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part H J. Eng. Med. 216 (2002) 369–383. https://doi.org/10.1243/095441102321032166.
- [147] F. Fina, C.M. Madla, A. Goyanes, J. Zhang, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, Fabricating 3D printed orally disintegrating printlets using selective laser sintering, Int. J. Pharm. 541 (2018) 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.02.015.
- [148] E.M. Mohamed, S.F. Barakh Ali, Z. Rahman, S. Dharani, T. Ozkan, M.A. Kuttolamadom, M.A. Khan, Formulation Optimization of Selective Laser Sintering 3D-Printed Tablets of Clindamycin Palmitate Hydrochloride by Response Surface Methodology, AAPS PharmSciTech. 21 (2020) 232. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-020-01775-0.
- [149] S.F. Barakh Ali, E.M. Mohamed, T. Ozkan, M.A. Kuttolamadom, M.A. Khan, A. Asadi, Z. Rahman, Understanding the effects of formulation and process variables on the printlets quality manufactured by selective laser sintering 3D printing, Int. J. Pharm. 570 (2019) 118651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118651.
- [150] N.A. Charoo, S.F. Barakh Ali, E.M. Mohamed, M.A. Kuttolamadom, T. Ozkan, M.A. Khan, Z. Rahman, Selective laser sintering 3D printing an overview of the technology and pharmaceutical applications, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 46 (2020) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/03639045.2020.1764027.
- [151] A. Awad, A. Yao, S.J. Trenfield, A. Goyanes, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, 3D Printed Tablets (Printlets) with Braille and Moon Patterns for Visually Impaired Patients, Pharmaceutics. 12 (2020) 172. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12020172.
- [152] F. Fina, A. Goyanes, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, Selective laser sintering (SLS) 3D printing of medicines, Int. J. Pharm. 529 (2017) 285–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.06.082.
- [153] F. Fina, A. Goyanes, C.M. Madla, A. Awad, S.J. Trenfield, J.M. Kuek, P. Patel, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, 3D printing of drug-loaded gyroid lattices using selective laser sintering, Int. J. Pharm. 547 (2018) 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.05.044.

- [154] S.L. Fialho, F. Behar-Cohen, A. Silva-Cunha, Dexamethasone-loaded poly(εcaprolactone) intravitreal implants: A pilot study, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 68 (2008) 637–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2007.08.004.
- [155] J. Tsung, D.J. Burgess, Biodegradable Polymers in Drug Delivery Systems BT -Fundamentals and Applications of Controlled Release Drug Delivery, in: J. Siepmann, R.A. Siegel, M.J. Rathbone (Eds.), Springer US, Boston, MA, 2012: pp. 107–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0881-9\_5.
- [156] M.A. Woodruff, D.W. Hutmacher, The return of a forgotten polymer— Polycaprolactone in the 21st century, Prog. Polym. Sci. 35 (2010) 1217–1256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2010.04.002.
- [157] S.A. Stewart, J. Domínguez-Robles, R.F. Donnelly, E. Larrañeta, Implantable Polymeric Drug Delivery Devices: Classification, Manufacture, Materials, and Clinical Applications, Polym. 10 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/polym10121379.
- [158] D.J.-P. Labarre, G. Ponchel, C. Vauthier, Biomedical and pharmaceutical polymers, First Edit, Pharmaceutical Press, 2010.
- [159] I.C.C. de Moraes Porto, Polymerization, InTech, 2012. https://doi.org/10.5772/2750.
- [160] R. Becher, H. Kopperud, R. Al, J. Samuelsen, E. Morisbak, H. Dahlman, E. Lilleaas, J. Dahl, Pattern of cell death after in vitro exposure to GDMA, TEGDMA, HEMA and two compomer extracts, Dent. Mater. 22 (2006) 630–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2005.05.013.
- [161] P.A. Steward, J. Hearn, M.C. Wilkinson, An overview of polymer latex film formation and properties, Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 86 (2000) 195–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8686(99)00037-8.
- [162] S. Tan, R.L. Sherman, W.T. Ford, Nanoscale Compression of Polymer Microspheres by Atomic Force Microscopy, Langmuir. 20 (2004) 7015–7020. https://doi.org/10.1021/la049597c.
- [163] M. Küçükoflaz, B. Saraçoğlu Kaya, M.O. Caglayan, Determination of mechanical properties of polymeric microspheres used in controlled drug delivery systems by nanoindentation, Polym. Technol. Mater. 58 (2019) 765–775. https://doi.org/10.1080/03602559.2018.1520252.
- [164] J. Aho, J.P. Boetker, S. Baldursdottir, J. Rantanen, Rheology as a tool for evaluation of melt processability of innovative dosage forms, Int. J. Pharm. 494 (2015) 623–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.02.009.
- [165] N.G. Solanki, S.G. Gumaste, A. V Shah, A.T.M. Serajuddin, Effects of Surfactants on Itraconazole-Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Acetate Succinate Solid Dispersion Prepared by Hot Melt Extrusion. II: Rheological Analysis and Extrudability Testing, J. Pharm. Sci. 108 (2019) 3063–3073. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2019.05.010.
- [166] A. Patlolla, G. Collins, T. Livingston Arinzeh, Solvent-dependent properties of electrospun fibrous composites for bone tissue regeneration, Acta Biomater. 6 (2010) 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2009.07.028.
- [167] V.R. Sinha, S. Sharma, Silki, M. Kaur, A. Sarwal, Current Polyesteric Systems for Advanced Drug Delivery, in: A.M. Holban, A.M.B.T.-N. for S.D. and D.T. Grumezescu (Eds.), Nanoarchitectonics Smart Deliv. Drug Target., Elsevier, 2016: pp.

143-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-47347-7.00006-9.

- [168] J. Holländer, N. Genina, H. Jukarainen, M. Khajeheian, A. Rosling, E. Mäkilä, N. Sandler, Three-Dimensional Printed PCL-Based Implantable Prototypes of Medical Devices for Controlled Drug Delivery, J. Pharm. Sci. 105 (2016) 2665–2676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2015.12.012.
- [169] M. Govender, S. Indermun, P. Kumar, Y. Choonara, V. Pillay, 3D Printed, PVA–PAA Hydrogel Loaded-Polycaprolactone Scaffold for the Delivery of Hydrophilic In-Situ Formed Sodium Indomethacin, Materials (Basel). 11 (2018) 1006. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma11061006.
- [170] S. Farah, D.G. Anderson, R. Langer, Physical and mechanical properties of PLA, and their functions in widespread applications — A comprehensive review, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 107 (2016) 367–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.06.012.
- [171] B.D. Ulery, L.S. Nair, C.T. Laurencin, Biomedical applications of biodegradable polymers, J. Polym. Sci. Part B Polym. Phys. 49 (2011) 832–864. https://doi.org/10.1002/polb.22259.
- [172] M.A. Luzuriaga, D.R. Berry, J.C. Reagan, R.A. Smaldone, J.J. Gassensmith, Biodegradable 3D printed polymer microneedles for transdermal drug delivery, Lab Chip. 18 (2018) 1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8LC00098K.
- [173] J. Fu, X. Yu, Y. Jin, 3D printing of vaginal rings with personalized shapes for controlled release of progesterone, Int. J. Pharm. 539 (2018) 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.01.036.
- [174] H.K. Makadia, S.J. Siegel, Poly Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid (PLGA) as Biodegradable Controlled Drug Delivery Carrier, Polymers (Basel). 3 (2011) 1377–1397. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym3031377.
- [175] J.A. Champion, Y.K. Katare, S. Mitragotri, Particle shape: A new design parameter for micro- and nanoscale drug delivery carriers, J. Control. Release. 121 (2007) 3–9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.03.022.
- [176] R.A. Jain, The manufacturing techniques of various drug loaded biodegradable poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) devices, Biomaterials. 21 (2000) 2475–2490. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(00)00115-0.
- [177] A.-V. Do, A. Akkouch, B. Green, I. Ozbolat, A. Debabneh, S. Geary, A.K. Salem, Controlled and Sequential Delivery of Fluorophores from 3D Printed Alginate-PLGA Tubes, Ann. Biomed. Eng. 45 (2017) 297–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-016-1648-9.
- [178] X. Xu, J. Zhao, M. Wang, L. Wang, J. Yang, 3D Printed Polyvinyl Alcohol Tablets with Multiple Release Profiles, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 12487. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48921-8.
- [179] M. Davidovich-Pinhas, S. Barbut, A.G. Marangoni, Physical structure and thermal behavior of ethylcellulose, Cellulose. 21 (2014) 3243–3255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-014-0377-1.
- [180] D. Cellulosics, ETHOCEL<sup>TM</sup>: Ethylcellulose polymers technical handbook, TDC Co. (Ed.), Dow Cellul. (2005) 28.

- [181] Y. Yang, H. Wang, H. Li, Z. Ou, G. Yang, 3D printed tablets with internal scaffold structure using ethyl cellulose to achieve sustained ibuprofen release, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 115 (2018) 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2018.01.005.
- [182] K.M. Picker-Freyer, T. Dürig, Physical mechanical and tablet formation properties of hydroxypropylcellulose: In pure form and in mixtures, AAPS PharmSciTech. 8 (2007) 82. https://doi.org/10.1208/pt0804092.
- [183] S. Homaee Borujeni, S.Z. Mirdamadian, J. Varshosaz, A. Taheri, Three-dimensional (3D) printed tablets using ethyl cellulose and hydroxypropyl cellulose to achieve zero order sustained release profile, Cellulose. 27 (2020) 1573–1589. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-019-02881-4.
- [184] K. Deshmukh, M. Basheer Ahamed, R.R. Deshmukh, S.K. Khadheer Pasha, P.R. Bhagat, K. Chidambaram, Biopolymer Composites With High Dielectric Performance: Interface Engineering, in: K.K. Sadasivuni, D. Ponnamma, J. Kim, J.-J. Cabibihan, M.A.B.T.-B.C. in E. AlMaadeed (Eds.), Biopolym. Compos. Electron., Elsevier, 2017: pp. 27–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809261-3.00003-6.
- [185] R.P. Gullapalli, C.L. Mazzitelli, Gelatin and Non-Gelatin Capsule Dosage Forms, J. Pharm. Sci. 106 (2017) 1453–1465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2017.02.006.
- [186] M.M. Al-Tabakha, HPMC Capsules: Current Status and Future Prospects, J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 13 (2010) 428–442. https://doi.org/10.18433/J3K881.
- [187] P. Franco, I. De Marco, The Use of Poly(N-vinyl pyrrolidone) in the Delivery of Drugs: A Review, Polymers (Basel). 12 (2020) 1114. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym12051114.
- [188] T.C. Okwuosa, B.C. Pereira, B. Arafat, M. Cieszynska, A. Isreb, M.A. Alhnan, Fabricating a Shell-Core Delayed Release Tablet Using Dual FDM 3D Printing for Patient-Centred Therapy, Pharm. Res. 34 (2017) 427–437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-2073-3.
- [189] M. Vehse, S. Petersen, K. Sternberg, K. Schmitz, H. Seitz, Drug Delivery From Poly(ethylene glycol) Diacrylate Scaffolds Produced by DLC Based Micro-Stereolithography, Macromol. Symp. 346 (2014) 43–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.201400060.
- [190] L. Larush, I. Kaner, A. Fluksman, A. Tamsut, A.A. Pawar, P. Lesnovski, O. Benny, S. Magdassi, 3D printing of responsive hydrogels for drug-delivery systems, J. 3D Print. Med. 1 (2017) 219–229. https://doi.org/10.2217/3dp-2017-0009.
- [191] P.R. Martinez, A. Goyanes, A.W. Basit, S. Gaisford, Fabrication of drug-loaded hydrogels with stereolithographic 3D printing, Int. J. Pharm. 532 (2017) 313–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.09.003.
- [192] N. Genina, J. Holländer, H. Jukarainen, E. Mäkilä, J. Salonen, N. Sandler, Ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA) as a new drug carrier for 3D printed medical drug delivery devices, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 90 (2016) 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2015.11.005.
- [193] A. Farzan, S. Borandeh, N. Zanjanizadeh Ezazi, S. Lipponen, H.A. Santos, J. Seppälä, 3D scaffolding of fast photocurable polyurethane for soft tissue engineering by stereolithography: Influence of materials and geometry on growth of fibroblast cells,

Eur. Polym. J. 139 (2020) 109988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2020.109988.

- [194] I. Omrani, N. Babanejad, H.K. Shendi, M.R. Nabid, Preparation and evaluation of a novel sunflower oil-based waterborne polyurethane nanoparticles for sustained delivery of hydrophobic drug, Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 119 (2017) 1600283. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.201600283.
- [195] K. Bankoti, A.P. Rameshbabu, S. Datta, P.P. Maity, P. Goswami, P. Datta, S.K. Ghosh, A. Mitra, S. Dhara, Accelerated healing of full thickness dermal wounds by macroporous waterborne polyurethane-chitosan hydrogel scaffolds, Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 81 (2017) 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2017.07.018.
- [196] A. Bahadur, M. Shoaib, S. Iqbal, A. Saeed, M.S. ur Rahman, P.A. Channar, Regulating the anticancer drug release rate by controlling the composition of waterborne polyurethane, React. Funct. Polym. 131 (2018) 134–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2018.07.014.
- [197] S. Hsu, L.-G. Dai, Y.-M. Hung, N.-T. Dai, Evaluation and characterization of waterborne biodegradable polyurethane films for the prevention of tendon postoperative adhesion, Int. J. Nanomedicine. Volume 13 (2018) 5485–5497. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S169825.
- [198] K.-C. Hung, C.-S. Tseng, L.-G. Dai, S. Hsu, Water-based polyurethane 3D printed scaffolds with controlled release function for customized cartilage tissue engineering, Biomaterials. 83 (2016) 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.01.019.
- [199] D.C. Aduba Jr., K. Zhang, A. Kanitkar, J.M. Sirrine, S.S. Verbridge, T.E. Long, Electrospinning of plant oil-based, non-isocyanate polyurethanes for biomedical applications, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 135 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1002/app.46464.
- [200] G. Rokicki, P.G. Parzuchowski, M. Mazurek, Non-isocyanate polyurethanes: Synthesis, properties, and applications, Polym. Adv. Technol. 26 (2015) 707–761. https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.3522.
- [201] R.A. Bader, D.A. Putnam, Engineering polymer systems for improved drug delivery, John Wiley & Sons, 2014.
- [202] A.S. Hoffman, The origins and evolution of "controlled" drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release. 132 (2008) 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.08.012.
- [203] Q. Li, H. Wen, D. Jia, X. Guan, H. Pan, Y. Yang, S. Yu, Z. Zhu, R. Xiang, W. Pan, Preparation and investigation of controlled-release glipizide novel oral device with three-dimensional printing, Int. J. Pharm. 525 (2017) 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.03.066.
- [204] A. Maroni, A. Melocchi, F. Parietti, A. Foppoli, L. Zema, A. Gazzaniga, 3D printed multi-compartment capsular devices for two-pulse oral drug delivery, J. Control. Release. 268 (2017) 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.10.008.
- [205] N.G. Solanki, M. Tahsin, A. V. Shah, A.T.M. Serajuddin, Formulation of 3D Printed Tablet for Rapid Drug Release by Fused Deposition Modeling: Screening Polymers for Drug Release, Drug-Polymer Miscibility and Printability, J. Pharm. Sci. 107 (2018) 390–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2017.10.021.
- [206] C.I. Gioumouxouzis, A. Baklavaridis, O.L. Katsamenis, C.K. Markopoulou, N. Bouropoulos, D. Tzetzis, D.G. Fatouros, A 3D printed bilayer oral solid dosage form

combining metformin for prolonged and glimepiride for immediate drug delivery, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 120 (2018) 40–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2018.04.020.

- [207] C.I. Gioumouxouzis, A.-T. Chatzitaki, C. Karavasili, O.L. Katsamenis, D. Tzetzis, E. Mystiridou, N. Bouropoulos, D.G. Fatouros, Controlled Release of 5-Fluorouracil from Alginate Beads Encapsulated in 3D Printed pH-Responsive Solid Dosage Forms, AAPS PharmSciTech. 19 (2018) 3362–3375. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-018-1084-2.
- [208] K. Liang, S. Carmone, D. Brambilla, J.-C. Leroux, 3D printing of a wearable personalized oral delivery device: A first-in-human study, Sci. Adv. 4 (2018) eaat2544. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aat2544.
- [209] N. Allahham, F. Fina, C. Marcuta, L. Kraschew, W. Mohr, S. Gaisford, A.W. Basit, A. Goyanes, Selective laser sintering 3D printing of orally disintegrating printlets containing ondansetron, Pharmaceutics. 12 (2020) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12020110.
- [210] M. Elbadawi, B. Muñiz Castro, F.K.H. Gavins, J.J. Ong, S. Gaisford, G. Pérez, A.W. Basit, P. Cabalar, A. Goyanes, M3DISEEN: A novel machine learning approach for predicting the 3D printability of medicines, Int. J. Pharm. 590 (2020) 119837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119837.
- [211] A. Melocchi, M. Uboldi, N. Inverardi, F. Briatico-Vangosa, F. Baldi, S. Pandini, G. Scalet, F. Auricchio, M. Cerea, A. Foppoli, A. Maroni, L. Zema, A. Gazzaniga, Expandable drug delivery system for gastric retention based on shape memory polymers: Development via 4D printing and extrusion, Int. J. Pharm. 571 (2019) 118700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118700.
- [212] A. Melocchi, N. Inverardi, M. Uboldi, F. Baldi, A. Maroni, S. Pandini, F. Briatico-Vangosa, L. Zema, A. Gazzaniga, Retentive device for intravesical drug delivery based on water-induced shape memory response of poly(vinyl alcohol): design concept and 4D printing feasibility, Int. J. Pharm. 559 (2019) 299–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.01.045.

Graphical abstract

